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1. RepoRt oF tHe BoaRd oF ManaGinG diReCtoRs 

1.1. CoMpany pRoFile

aqualectra is Curacao’s utility company (hereinafter the Group) responsible for the production and distribution of power and water as well 

as the delivery of accompanying services. the Group service approximately 70,000 connections electricity and 71,000 connections water. 

aqualectra workforce includes 691 dedicated workers who provide the framework for the delivery of quality products and services to our 

customers.

1.2. FinanCial peRFoRManCe 

aqualectra has realized in 2009 a positive net result after taxes of anG 24,423 million (2008: anG – 17,019 million). the gross profit of 

2009 was anG 289,524 million (2008: anG 221,497 million) and the operating result was anG 62,782 (2008: anG – 10,831 million). 

the financial performance of the Group in 2009 is significantly better than in 2008. the reasons for this better financial performance are to 

be explained as follows:

sAles electRicity

in 2009, a total sale of 654.4 MWh has been realized, compared to 2008, when a total sale of 633.7 MWh has been realized. this is an 

increase of sales of 3.2%. this total increase of sales is a result of an increase of 3.0% of sales to the households and 3.4% increases of 

sales to the business sector. 41% of the total sales have been realized to the households, while 59% of the total sales have been realized 

to the business clients. 75% of the total sales to the households have been realized to postpaid clients, while 25% of the total sales to the 

households have been realized to the prepaid clients. 

sAles wAteR

in 2009, a total sale of 9,785 m3 x 1,000 has been realized, compared to 2008, when a total sale of 9,420 m3 x 1,000 has been realized. 

this is an increase of sales of 3.8%.  this increase of sales is a result of 4.5% increases of sales water to the households and an increase of 

2.5% of sales to the businesses. 67% of the total sales have been realized to the households, while 33% of the total sales have been realized 

to the commercial & industrial clients. 

ApplicABle tARiffs: 

in accordance with Federal Government ordinances (landsverordening) of July 19, 1961 and october 14, 1991, the executive Council of 

the island Government of Curaçao is responsible for the stipulation of the applicable tariffs for water and electricity. Furthermore the tariff 

structure for water and electricity is based on the resolution of the executive Council of the island Government of november 8, 2002. in the 

last mentioned resolution of the executive Council, the following matters have been inter alia decided:

• the set-up and tariff structure for water and electricity as of 2002, consisting of a (i) base component and (ii) a direct cost component. the 

base component covers all the non direct costs for the supply, while the direct costs component must cover the fuel costs and other direct 

costs of production and sales. this separation allowed a rate calculation system to be developed that could track changes in fuel costs. 

• the level of the applicable tariffs for water and electricity for the years 2003 and 2004;

• that the Group is allowed to realize a yearly return on equity of 8%;

• that the Group is allowed to apply a “regulatory account” in which an eventual ‘over coverage’ or ‘under coverage’ of the total direct 

cost by the applicable cost component is reflected;  

• that the “regulatory account” as of 2002 starts with a total amount to be recovered of anG 15.4 million regarding 2001;

• that the increase or decrease of the regulatory account will be quarterly monitored and evaluated and yearly verified based on the 

audited financial report of the Group.

Based on this resolution, the Group is allowed to pass through any eventual under coverage of direct cost (fuel costs) to the customer if the 

fuel and other direct costs are not fully covered through the direct costs component of the applied tariff, due to the increase of the fuel costs 

of the production compared to the level of fuel costs.
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in 2009, the realized average all inclusive tariffs for electricity was anG 0.6020 per KWh (2008: anG 0.5823 per KWh). in 2009, the 

realized average all inclusive tariffs for water was anG 10.3827 per m3 (2008: anG 12.7990 per m3). Below an overview of the realized 

tariff adaptations as of 2004 till 2009. 

 Realized Realized Realized Realized Realized Realized  Realized
   2004 2005 2005 2007 2008 2009 2009

Average tariff 01 Jan 01 feb 03 Jun 04 Jul 01 Jun 05 feb 04 sep

Electricity

Base component    0.2919   0.2919   0.2919  0.2919  0.2919  0.2919   0.2919 

direct cost component 0.1077  0.1584   0.1960   0.2641   0.3363   0.2735   0.3838 

all inclusive tariff   0.3996   0.4503   0.4879  0.5560  0.6282  0.5654   0.6757 

       

index (base = 2004) 100% 113% 122% 139% 157% 141% 169%

in % of year before  13% 8% 14% 13% -10% 19.5%

       

Water    

Base component  7.7099   7.7099  7.7099  7.7099  7.7099  7.7099  7.7099 

direct cost component 4.0201  4.5493  5.3259  6.0328  6.0328  2.5139  3.0300 

all inclusive tariff  11.7300  12.2592  13.0358  13.7427  13.7427  10.2238  10.7399 

       

index (base = 2004) 100% 105% 111% 117% 117% 87% 92%

in % year before  5% 6% 5% 0% -26% 5%

in 2009 the all inclusive tariff for water and electricity has been adjusted on 5 February and on 4 september, because of the adjustment of 

the direct cost component due to fluctuations on the world oil market. 

Revenues wAteR AnD electRicity: 

the total realized revenues for water and electricity in 2009 (anG 508.9 million) was anG 12.6 million higher than in the year 2008 (anG 

496.3 million). in 2009 more sales and higher tariffs were recorded compared to 2008 for electricity. on the other hand in 2009 more sales 

and lower tariffs were recorded compared to 2008 for water.

DiRect costs:

this cost item consists of the cost of fuel usage, chemicals, lubrication, intake of electricity and water from third parties and other direct cost 

of production. the total direct costs recorded for production and sales in 2009 (anG 234.8 million) is anG 56.3 million lower than in 2008 

(anG 291.1 million). the major drivers for this cost decrease were the lower realized cost of fuel in 2009:  anG 171.5 million compared to 

anG 231.2 million in 2008 (anG 59.6 million decrease). 
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DevelopMent “RegulAtoRy Account”:

in 2009, the total realized coverage for the ‘direct costs production electricity’ and water was anG 229.1 million. on the other hand, as 

explained in this report before, in 2009, the total realized ‘direct cost production’ and ‘other direct cost of sales’ was anG 236.2 million. 

the realized under coverage direct cost for the year under report is anG 7.1 million. the total amount of under coverage ‘direct cost’ until 

the year 2008 was anG 88.5 million. Considering the above mentioned realized under coverage in the year under report, the total amount 

of under coverage of the direct cost until 2009 has increased to anG 95 million. Below an overview of the total amount of under coverage 

direct costs as realized as of 2006 till 2009: 

Development “regulatory account” Amount under coverage in Ang

to be compensated to aqualectra for 2006 2,917,755

to be compensated to aqualectra for 2007 11,395,440

to be compensated to aqualectra for 2008 74,179,925

to be compensated to aqualectra for 2009 7,118,084

 

total amount to be compensated to Aqualectra at year end 2009 95,611,204

DevelopMent opeRAting expenses:

in 2009, the total operating expenses have been realized for anG 226.7 million. in 2008, the total operating expenses was anG 232.3 

million. it regards a decrease of anG 5.6 million which is 2.4% compared to 2008. this decrease is mainly attributable to the following 

factors:

Personnel expenses totaled anG 86.7 million in 2009: an increase by anG 2.1 million from the recorded anG 84.6 million in 2008. this 

increase is mainly attributable to (i) additional contribution to the provision for medical expenses of retired personnel based on actuarial 

calculations and (ii) more over time realized in the year under report than in previous year. 

Operational and maintenance expenses include the cost items: material usage, repair and maintenance and hired services. this total cost item 

amounted to anG 58.6 million in the year under report (2008: anG 53.7 million). this anG 4.9 million increase is mainly a consequence 

of (i) the accelerated maintenance program of the different electricity and water production assets and (ii) on the one hand, more materials 

applied in the year under report for the maintenance of the t&d assets for water and electricity and (iii) on the other hand, less hired services 

realized in the year under report than the previous year for the maintenance activities.

General expenses regards the costs related to housing & car fleet, office expenses, communication & pR, insurances and security, consultancy 

and other sundry and general expenses. in 2009 a total amount of anG 26.6 million has been realized as “general expenses”, which is a 

decrease of anG 10.0 million compared to 2008 (anG 36.6 million). the decrease of the realized “general expenses” in 2009 is the result 

of the everlasting effort of all aqualectra executives to be more and more in control of the realization of costs. the decrease of this cost item 

compared to 2008, has been equally realized for the above mentioned sub-cost items.

 

Depreciation expenses amount to anG 50.2 million (2008: anG 52.2 million) in the year under report. this is a decrease of anG 2.0 million 

compared to 2008. depreciation costs are realized based the amount of assets on the balance sheet during the year under report. 

Provision bad debt expenses amount to anG 4.5 million (2008: anG 5.2 million) in the year under report. this is a decrease of anG 0.7 

million compared to the year before. the provision for bad debt costs is related to the sales of water and electricity. More sales has been 

realized in the year under report compared to the previous year, hence relatively more provision for bad debt needed to be recorded in the 

year under report.
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1.3. CoRpoRate GoveRnanCe

in accordance with the “stock Register” of integrated utility Holding nv, the following information about the ownership of the Company 

can be disclosed:

coMMon shAReholDeR: 

• as of June 1, 1998 a total amount of 470 issued common shares (nr. 1 to nr. 470) has been paid for by the “eilandgebied Curaçao”. 

the total amount paid regards anG 570 million. 

• as of september 6, 2001 the total amount of 470 shares has been transferred to by the “eilandgebied Curaçao” to stichting implemen-

tatie privatisering (stip). 

 

pRefeRReD shAReholDeR:

• as of december 19, 2001 a total amount of 2,800 issued preferred shares (nr. b1 to nr. B2800) has been paid for by the  

“Mirant Curaçao investments ltd.”. the total amount paid regards usd 16 million. 

• as of september 27, 2002 a total amount of 4,200 issued preferred shares (nr. B2801 to nr. B4000) has been paid for by  

“Mirant Curaçao investments ltd.”. the total amount paid regards usd 24 million. 

• as of July 11, 2006 the total amount of 7000 preferred shares has been transferred by “Mirant Curaçao investments ltd.” to  

“Maruenergy Curaçao ltd”. 

• as of december 30, 2009 the total amount of 7000 preferred shares has been repurchased from “Maruenergy Curaçao ltd.” by 

“integrated utility Holding nv”.

AnnuAl RepoRt AnD legAl stRuctuRe

this annual report of aqualectra, regards the consolidated report of management to the shareholders and other relevant stakeholders about 

the performance of the Group over the year 2009. this report regards the consolidation of the following companies into the report of inte-

grated utility Holding nv (dba aqualectra):   

• aqualectra production (Kae n.v.) (100% subsidiary of integrated utility Holding n.v.)

• aqualectra distribution (Kodela n.v.) (100% subsidiary of integrated utility Holding n.v.)

• aqualectra Multi utility Company n.v. (aMu) (100% subsidiary of integrated utility Holding n.v.)

• General engineering & utility services n.v. (Geus) (100% subsidiary of aqualectra distribution (Kodela n.v.) 

• KuMepe n.v. (100% subsidiary of integrated utility Holding n.v.)

• aqualectra Bottling Co. n.v. (100% subsidiary of aqualectra Multi utility Company n.v. (aMu)).

all above standing entities are hereinafter mentioned as “ the Group”.
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Below an overview of the Group’s legal structure:

ownership
100%

ownership
49%

ownership
51%

= Ownership through ownership of shares

= Control through public governance

ownership
100%

ownership
100%

ownership
100%

ownership
100%

ownership
100%

ownership
100%

also reference is made to the articles of incorporation of integrated utility Holding nv. Clause 7 of these articles regulates the management 

and control of the Group. in this clause it is also stipulated that all management actions with regard to the aqualectra group of Company’s 

are subject to supervision of the Board of supervisory directors.  

plAnning & contRol cycle of the gRoup

Good governance in corporate settings includes transparency, accountability, compliance and adherence to legal principles and procedures. 

of course, the citizen will ultimately judge the Group by its performance in terms of (i) quality, (ii) reliability, (iii) environmental burden and 

(iv) applied prices.  nevertheless, governance issues are also critical and considerations of good governance apply to the Group very much 

as they do to the society as a whole. aqualectra’s philosophy hereby entails compliance to all corporate governance principles on the one 

hand and on the other hand embedding the internal planning & control cycle as much as possible into the corporate governance settings 

of the Group.  

Eilandgebied Curaçao
(Economic ownership)

Stichting Implementatie 
Privatisering 

(StiP)
(Legal ownership)

Integrated Utility Holding NV
(dba Aqualectra)

Curaçao Energy Company ltd.

Curaçao Utility Company 

Holdings NV

Kompania di Produkshon di Awa I 

Elektrisidat di Korsou NV

(dba Aqualectra Production)

Kompania di Distribushon di Awa I 

Elektrisidat di Korsou NV

(dba Aqualectra Distribution)

Aqualectra 

Multi Utility NV
KUMEPE NV

General Engineering & Utility 

Services NV

Aqualectra 

Bottling Company NV
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enteRpRise ResouRce plAnning:

this planning & control cycle starts with the periodic (every 3 years) update of the enterprise Resource planning (eRp). the primary objec-

tive of the enterprise Resource plan is aimed at the realization of the corporate objectives of the Group. in general, capacity- and efficiency 

deficiencies drive the Group’s resource needs, which are identified in the Group’s periodic update of its eRp. the eRp describes the Group’s 

growing customer base, load growth, supply-resources, demand side management and risk analysis. additionally this eRp also contains infor-

mation regarding available resource options, planning period forecasts, potential generating resources and –options (including sustainable 

energy), 20 year resource plan and a near term investment plan.  

Business plAnning AnD consoliDAteD BuDget:

every year a business plan and a consolidated budget, including a 5 year forward looking projection, are drafted and submitted for approval 

to the Board of supervisory directors. this business plan includes management’s score card for the year ahead. in order to be effective with 

these planning & control instruments the Group applies the eFQM (european Foundation for Quality Management) model of excellence. 

the eFQM excellence Model is a practical tool that can be applied as a tool for self-assessment; as a way to Benchmark with other organiza-

tions; as a guide to identify areas for improvement; as the basis for a common vocabulary and a way of thinking and as a structure for the 

organization’s management system. 

the business plan contains information about management’s objectives and intentions. these are identified as the corporate enabling areas. 

these corporate enabling areas are (i) strategy & policy, (ii) people, (iii) leadership, (iv) partnerships & Resources and (v) processes. Further-

more 4 result areas are identified being (a) people results, (b) customer results, (c) society results and (d) key performance [operational and 

financial] results. the business plan presents the different key performance indicators [Kpi’s] per result area, which results are to be considered 

management score card for the year under report.      

this planning process is aimed at the defined corporate objectives and is being executed, considering the different conditions as well as 

substantial facts and risks involved. Corporate Governance and public Governance principles are also important and relevant in this regard. 

aqualectra recognizes and respects the role Governments, as shareholders as well as a public entity has to play within the deployment of 

policy within the Group. Management considers it as well as its duty to sustain the Government, the shareholders and the supervisory Board 

as much as possible in this important task by complying completely and proactively through our planning & control cycle with all regulations, 

laws and incorporated and internal procedures. Key words for aqualectra in this regard are: transparency, disclosure and compliance.  

yeAR opeRAtionAl plAnning AnD DepARtMentAl BuDget: 

the above-mentioned business plan and consolidated budget is the input for the yearly internal planning and budgeting cycle. the Group’s 

internal structure is organized in 9 policy areas. these areas are (i) Customer Relations, (ii) production, (iii) distribution, (iv) Finance & BRC/

iad, (v) iCt, (vi) General affairs, (vii) Corporate affairs, (viii) legal and Communication and (ix) HR- and Facilities Management. For every 

internal policy area, year operational plans (yop) and departmental budgets are drafted and approved by Management, considering the 

guidelines and objective for the year under report as this is defined in the year business plan. For every policy areas also key performance 

indicators are in place, which will be the input for the yearly assessment and appraisal of middle management and staff.

RepoRting:

periodic reporting (monthly or quarterly and yearly) of each policy area is applied, in which reports the realization of the Kpi’s are set off 

against the planned or projected Kpi’s per policy area. Management on its turn also periodically reports to the Board of supervisory directors 

about the realization vis a vis the planned and projected Kpi’s. through a process of monitoring, reporting and compliance, the adherence to 

good governance within aqualectra is assessed. throughout the year 2009 aqualectra has gone through the following process of monitoring, 

reporting and compliance:

• one audit and one review of the financials of the Group conducted by the external auditor KpMG. 

• one review conducted by KpMG on behalf of the consortium of lenders related to the progress and compliance of the investment  

program. 

• Four audits conducted by lloyds netherlands of which two related to the compliance with the iso 14001 environmental management 

standards and two related to the compliance with the iso 9001/2000 management standards. 

• Regular internal audits performed by the internal audit department. 
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We are pleased to inform that all of the above-mentioned reviews and audits have been performed satisfactorily.

ADheRence to the coRpoRAte goveRnAnce coDe 

on october 12, 2009 the island Council of Curaçao has adopted an ordinance (2008/23) about the rules and procedures for the state 

owned enterprises [soe] with regard to (i) the acquisition and transferring of shares, (ii) dividend policy, (iii) appointment and discharge of 

management. the primary objective of this ordinance is aimed at promoting sound management and control principles for the soe’s. the 

regulated topics of this ordinance are: 

• the Corporate Governance Code;

• the Corporate Governance advisor for the island Government;

• dividend policy;

• acquisition, transfer and encumbering of shares;

• appointment and discharge of management.

as mentioned above, the above-mentioned ordinance also refers to a resolution of the executive Council of the island Government of Curaçao 

in which good and transparent corporate governance practices for soe’s are regulated and supervised. 

on october 29, 2009 the executive Council of the island of Curaçao has adopted a resolution “the Corporate Governance Code” in which 

resolution the complete policy outlines of Corporate Governance principles for the soe’s are stipulated. in accordance with the above-men-

tioned resolution of the executive Council, the Corporate Governance Code takes effect as of January 1, 2010. the soe’s already as of the 

year 2009 must record in their annual Report a separate chapter about the Group’s corporate governance structure and its adherence to the 

Corporate Governance Code. in the future any non-compliance to the code must also be recorded in the annual report.  

the different Corporate Governance topics that are treated in this Code are:

• the Board of supervisory directors (Bsd);

• the Board of Managing directors (BMd);

• the General Meeting of shareholders (GsM);

• other provisions.

as mentioned before in this annual report, Management considers it as its duty to sustain the Government, the shareholders and the super-

visory Board as much as possible in this important task by complying completely and proactively through our planning & control cycle with 

all regulations, laws and incorporated and internal procedures. in order to be effective with this compliance, the Group already has requested 

legal advice about the way the Group already is complying with the different provisions of this government resolution. also this legal advice 

entails all the additional improvements that are needed in the Group’s planning & control processes and procedures in order for it to be in 

full compliance with the “Code”. this legal advice is shared with the Board of supervisory directors and all the improvement activities will 

be planned and executed in the year ahead.
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1.4. CoRpoRate CitizensHip

coRpoRAte sociAl ResponsiBility (csR)

the Group considers its corporate social responsibility (CsR) as a form of self-regulation integrated into the Group’s business model. aqualec-

tra has a firm believe that its CsR policy would function as a built-in, self-regulating mechanism whereby business would monitor and ensure 

its support to law, ethical standards, and international norms. Consequently, its business would embrace responsibility for the impact of its 

activities on the environment, consumers, employees, communities, stakeholders and all other members of the public sphere. Furthermore, 

aqualectra proactively promote the public interest by encouraging community growth and development, and voluntarily eliminating prac-

tices that harm the public sphere, regardless of legality. therefore it is for management essential that the public interest is included into the 

corporate decision–making, and by doing this, honoring of a triple bottom line: people, planet, profit.

sMAll contRiButions to spoRt-, Religious oR cultuRAl events:

aqualectra regularly receives request from the general public for small contribution for sport-, religious- or cultural events. although the 

Group cannot comply with all the submitted requests, still in the year under report a total of 254 requests for a small donation have been 

awarded. the average amount per donation is anG 700. 

sponsoRships to spoRts:

aqualectra also ought it as its corporate social responsibility to sustain major sport activities or sport organizations. in this regard the Group 

is proud to inform that during the year under report it has continued its sponsorship for the football club “CentRo doMinGuito” and the 

baseball club “Blue HaWKs”. also is the Group proud to inform that in the year under report the cooperation with the government founda-

tion “sedReKo” has continued. this cooperation entails sponsorships of the foundation in order to make it possible for the different sporting 

facilities to cover the electricity costs for evening events.

excuRsions to the pRoDuction plAnts:

it is aqualectra’s believe that every citizen of our island must be made conscious about the fact that water and electricity are very scarce 

on the island and that it takes a lot of efforts and energy to make this water and electricity available for the community. the reason for this 

consciousness is driven by the fact that it is in the consumer its own economic interest to be efficient with the use of these utilities and on 

the other hand it is from an environmental standpoint an interest for the whole community to be efficient with these scarce resources. during 

the year under report, different excursions to the Group’s production plants and technical facilities for schools and interest groups (including 

tourists and universities) have been sustained by our Communication department, during which excursions the production process of water 

and generation processes of electricity have been explained. 

Recycling cAMpAign shopping BAgs with cuRoil, RDK AnD seliKoR:

in the year under report, aqualectra has participated in a recycling campaign for shopping bags with its sister companies Curoil, RdK and 

selikor. this campaign was coordinated by the executive council of the island Government of Curaçao with the objective to minimize the 

issue of plastic shopping bags by the supermarkets. a number of 3,000 durable shopping bags have been issued by the 3 Companies to the 

different scouting groups at no cost, to be sold for little money to the public. By doing this the Companies have been giving scouting a hand 

and at the same time eliminating the amount of plastic shopping bags in the island environment.

iso 14001 

the Group is ever conscious of the impact that its operations can have on the overall environment and the community it serves. aqualectra 

continues to make every effort to minimize this possible negative impact effectively. By obtaining the iso 14001 in 2005, the Group explicitly 

specifies in its business processes the actual requirements for an environmental management system and adheres to those environmental 

aspects which the organization has control over and which it can be expected to have an influence on. By continuation of the iso 14001 

standard in 2009, the Group proactively shows the community it serves, that it wishes to:

• implement, maintain and improve an environmental management system; 

• assure itself of its compliance with its own stated environmental policy; 

• demonstrate compliance; 

• ensure compliance with environmental laws and regulations; 

• seek certification of its environmental management system by an external third party organization; 

• make a self-determination of compliance.
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1.5. otHeR iMpoRtant Milestones and developMents

investMents:

a total amount of anG 69.0 million of investments have been realized in 2009. these investments have been realized in:

production  anG   44.6 million

distribution  anG   24.4 million

total  Ang  69.0 million

the extension of the diesel power capacity was planned for 2007. unfortunately, due to cash flow constraints as a consequence of the 

delayed electricity and water tariff increase, this project was postponed. this project is in construction and completion of this extension is 

expected in the second half of 2010.

1.6. FutuRe pRospeCts 

MAJoR RisK fuel pRice volAtility:

in 2008 and before, aqualectra has been confronted with extraordinary expenses for fuel used to generate electricity and the production 

of water, because of skyrocketing global energy costs. as explained in this report a total amount of anG 95.6 million is still recorded as not 

recovered fuel costs over the years 2006 till 2009. By not recovering of the afore mentioned amount or by not applying a regulating tariff 

setting system in order to make it possible for the Group to (re-)cover its fuel costs is considered to be a major risk for the realization of the 

Group’s objectives.  

aqualectra cannot control factors driving world fuel prices and it is in the line of expectation that the energy costs are becoming more costly 

and very volatile, making it more difficult for utility companies to explain this development to the customer. By not being able to have a full 

‘fuel pass through’ on the energy bill of the customer, aqualectra is not in a position to acquire additional base-load energy resources on time, 

which will lead to capacity- and efficiency deficits. this deficit will continue to grow as peaking requirements increase with load growth and 

the Group’s resource base declines due to no timely replacement- or expansion investment.

fuel DiveRsity:

aqualectra is a firm believer of the value of fuel diversity to help stabilize fuel costs as well as to maintain and improve overall system reli-

ability. the actual generation mix of the Group includes: HFo steam turbines (26%), HFo diesel units (36%), purchased power (20%), lFo 

gas turbines and diesel units (13%) and wind energy (5%). By taking advantage of the dual fuel capabilities of a number of its generating 

units – that is, a number of plants can burn either oil or natural gas of a combination of both – aqualectra in the future can take advantage 

of whichever of these fuel sources is least costly at any particular time. although the cost of doing business as well as the cost of living has 

been subject to increase of Cpi, aqualectra has managed to stabilize and maintain the base rates for water and electricity on the level of 

2004. this policy will be continued in the years ahead of us. 
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enteRpRise ResouRce plAnning:

in general, capacity- and efficiency deficiencies drive aqualectra’s resource needs, which are identified in the Group’s periodic update of its 

enterprise Resource planning (eRp). the eRp describes the Group’s growing customer base, load growth, supply-resources, demand side man-

agement and risk analysis. additionally this eRp also contains information regarding available resource options, planning period forecasts, 

potential generating resources and –options (including sustainable energy), a 20 year resource plan, and a near term action plan.  the last 

update of this eRp was in 2008 and reported in 2009. 

• the main conclusions for water production are shortage of water production capacity if no expansion; aging of water production assets 

at Mundu nobo, if no replacement; possible relocation of Mundu nobo plant. 

• the main conclusions for water distribution are expansion transport capacity from santa Barbara production location; shortage of 

storage capacity at trai seru, if no expansion; segregation transport lines from main distribution and service lines; upgrade secondary 

pumping stations to regulate water pressure at homes; restructuring/renewal service line system.

• the main conclusions for electricity generation are shortage of generation capacity, if no expansion; aging of generation assets, if no 

replacement; possible relocation of Mundu nobo plant; reliability of supply Boo.

• the main conclusions for electricity distribution are aging 30 kv switchgear in substations; overloading of 30/12 kv transformers; aging 

12 kv switchgear in substations; restructuring of 12 kv distribution systems; restructuring/renewal lv system

coRpoRAte oBJectives:

as stated before in this report, good governance in corporate settings includes transparency, accountability, compliance and adherence to 

legal principles and procedures. ultimately the citizen will judge the Group by its performance in terms of (i) quality, (ii) reliability, (iii) least 

environmental burden and (iv) least applicable costs. in order to be transparent and effective, the Group has identified the values for these 4 

objectives and has also drafted a roadmap based on which these corporate objectives must be met (mission). 

infRAstRuctuRe: 

taken the main conclusions from the eRp into account, aqualectra’s near term investment plan is aimed at replacing the existing production 

units for water and electricity as well as expanding the total capacity of these production units in order for the Group to be able to cope with 

the increasing demand for water and electricity. this investment plan is phased over the period 2010 till 2015. Within this time frame the 

following investments have been identified:

• Renewing and expanding the total capacity of sea Water Reverse osmosis production up to 54,000 m3 per day in 2015. in 2015, the 

total demand for water is expected to be 45,000 m3 per day. 

• expansion and renewing the total capacity of electricity generating units up to 246 MW in 2015. in 2015, the total demand for 

electricity is expected to be between 115 MW and 140 MW. 

the expected generation mix of the Group in 2015 includes: HFo diesel units (50%), wind energy (35%), purchased power (10%), and Waste 

to energy (5%). the road map to realize these investments are already presented to the Board of supervisory directors of the Group and are 

in full preparation for its execution. a very remarkable point that must be accentuated in this road map is the fact that the Mundo nobo 

technical facility will be out phased after the above-mentioned investments have been concretized.     

systeMs:

it is also necessary for the Group to realize the necessary improvements and upgrading of the applied systems. the primary systems that will 

be improved and upgraded in the period 2010 and 2015 are:

• sCada system (supervisory Control & data acquisition). Regards the upgrading and improvement of the Group’s dispatch and control 

centre. 

• aMR/aMi systems (automatic Meter Reading and advanced Metering infrastructure). Regards the improvement of the metering of the 

water and the electricity flows in the applicable distribution grids as well as at the customer premises. 

• Gis/CRM systems (Geographical information system and Customer Relation Management system). Regards the improvement and 

alignment of the technical drawings database of the distribution grid of water and electricity aligned with the Customer Relation Man-

agement systems. 

• eRp system (enterprise Resource planning systems). Regards the continuous improvement of the applied eRp systems. 
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oRgAnizAtion, peRsonnel, heADquARteRs, pRocesses AnD pRoceDuRes:

the afore mentioned road map will lead the Group to a situation in which the Mundu nobo production facility will be out phased in 2015. 

it must also be considered that between 2010 and 2015 about 200 employees will be retiring the Group because of their pensionable age. 

taken into account the afore mentioned developments and in order for the Group to be more and more efficient also a restructuring of the 

Group’s organizational structure must be realized while the investments are realized. aqualectra is already engaged in this reorganization 

project called “tHe neXt step”. this project includes the physical and operational integration of the existing organization and processes of 

Kae and Kodela. it is projected that this integration will be taken effect at the beginning of the year 2011 and concluded during the years 

2012 till 2015. in order to be successful in this efficiency quest, it will also be important for the Group to provide adequate accommodation 

for the different integrated departments as well as it will be important to have adequate accommodation for the renewed, upgraded and 

aligned internal business processes. the preparations for the new integrated operational centre and technical services facility of aqualectra 

is already ongoing and are expected to be in operation in the year 2012/2013.    

finAncing:

in order to realize the above mentioned corporate objective, it will also be necessary to have the financial resources in place. determent factor 

within the scope of these corporate objectives will be the least cost option criterion. lower cost per unit can be realized, because of (i) relative 

less cost of fuel because of more wind- and heavy fuel oil generation of electricity, (ii) relative less personnel cost, because of less personnel 

and (iii) relatively less maintenance cost, because of an acceptable and rational over capacity, considering the development of the demand. 

the afore mentioned efficiency gains can be offset against the expected more capital charges, which is expected to be higher than the current 

capital charges, this because of the amount of capital expenditure needed. 

With these policy assumptions the Group already has included in the afore mentioned road map its financing strategy. implementation 

already started at the end of 2009, when the refinancing of the existing financing structure has been successfully concluded. it is envisioned 

that during the years 2010 till 2015, that the necessary capital can be raised, taken into account the realization of the different investment 

projects in that period.    

RegulAtoRy stRuctuRe:

due to untimely decision-making regarding the adjustment of the direct costs component of the tariff, in 2007 and 2008, the Group each 

time has been placed in a position of pre-financing fuel costs, which in the end has lead to postponement of- or delay in planned investment 

activities and necessary maintenance activities. in order for aqualectra to realize the identified investments as well in order for the Group to 

realize the necessary (re-)financing successfully a well designed energy policy and regulatory structure is a predominant condition. in 2007 

and 2008 aqualectra has offer some building blocks for the development of an energy policy. different documentation with regard to the 

subjects has been submitted, 2 seminars about this subject has been organized and very well visited and a training course for the operational 

management of aqualectra has been realized. Management strongly believes that a well thought energy policy and regulatory structure are 

of very high importance both for the reliability and affordability of the electricity and water supply on the island as well as for the future 

continuity and stability. aqualectra has the duty not only to provide for water and electricity today, but also in the coming decades. therefore, 

the Group will continue to advise to put the suggested issues on the policy agenda in order to discuss the best approach for the island, in the 

interest of consumers. ultimately, a proper balance between price, profit and quality should be pursued. this can be achieved by developing 

an energy policy through which decisions within the energy sector can be made and perceived by the society as credible, legitimate and fair. 

aqualectra has extended its commitment to be a major valuable contributor in shaping the Curaçao energy policy.

continuous iMpRoveMent:

Furthermore, aqualectra will continue its pursuit of operational excellence throughout its organizational performance improvement pro-

grams within its business operations. the optimization of the production and distribution processes will continue together with non-revenue 

programs to lower the non revenue for water and electricity as well as its policy aimed at cost rationalization and efficiency improvement. 

Customer care will remain a focal point of policy and the target is set to improve service and customer satisfaction.  
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once again, we thank our many stakeholders, partners, shareholders, lenders, management and staff, suppliers and contractors, customers 

and the government authorities for their cooperation, support and understanding during the year. We look forward to their continued sup-

port as the Group continues to try to deliver on its mandate to provide safe, reliable, and efficiently produced power and water supply for all 

those who want it.

Willemstad, July 28, 2010

on behalf of the Board of Managing directors, 

(original was signed)

Mr. a.C. Casperson

Chairman of the Board of Managing directors

(original was signed)

Mr. d.G. v.d. veen 

executive Managing director Financial affairs
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2. RepoRt oF tHe BoaRd oF supeRvisoRy diReCtoRs

2.1. oWneRsHip oF tHe GRoup

in accordance with the “stock Register” of integrated utility Holding nv, the following information about the ownership of the Company 

can be disclosed:

coMMon shAReholDeR: 

• as of June 1, 1998 a total amount of 470 issued common shares (nr. 1 to nr. 470) has been paid for by the “eilandgebied Curaçao”. 

the total amount paid regards anG 570 million. 

• as of september 6, 2001 the total amount of 470 shares has been transferred to by the “eilandgebied Curaçao” to stichting 

implementatie privatisering (stip). 

pRefeRReD shAReholDeR:

• as of december 19, 2001 a total amount of 2,800 issued preferred shares (nr. b1 to nr. B2800) has been paid for by the  

“Mirant Curaçao investments ltd.”. the total amount paid regards usd 16 million. 

• as of september 27, 2002 a total amount of 4,200 issued preferred shares (nr. B2801 to nr. B4000) has been paid for by  

“Mirant Curaçao investments ltd.”. the total amount paid regards usd 24 million. 

• as of July 11, 2006 the total amount of 7000 preferred shares has been transferred by “Mirant Curaçao investments ltd.” to  

“Maruenergy Curaçao ltd”. 

• as of december 30, 2009 the total amount of 7000 preferred shares has been transferred by “Maruenergy Curaçao ltd.” to  

“integrated utility Holding nv”.

AnnuAl RepoRt AnD legAl stRuctuRe

this annual report of aqualectra, regards the consolidated report of management to the shareholders and other relevant stakeholders about 

the performance of the Company over the year 2009. this report regards the consolidation of the following companies into the report of 

integrated utility Holding nv (dba aqualectra):   

• aqualectra production (Kae n.v.) (100% subsidiary of integrated utility Holding n.v.)

• aqualectra distribution (Kodela n.v.) (100% subsidiary of integrated utility Holding n.v.)

• aqualectra Multi utility Company n.v. (aMu) (100% subsidiary of integrated utility Holding n.v.)

• General engineering & utility services n.v. (Geus) (100% subsidiary of aqualectra distribution (Kodela n.v.) 

• KuMepe n.v. (100% subsidiary of integrated utility Holding n.v.)

• aqualectra Bottling Co. n.v. (100% subsidiary of aqualectra Multi utility Company n.v. (aMu)).

all above standing entities are hereinafter mentioned as “the Group”.

also reference is made to the articles of incorporation of integrated utility Holding nv. Clause 7 of these articles regulates the management 

and control of the Group. in this clause it is also stipulated that all management actions with regard to the aqualectra group of Group’s are 

subject to supervision of the Board of supervisory directors. 
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2.2. CoMplianCe to tHe CoRpoRate GoveRnanCe Code

on october 12, 2009 the island Council of Curaçao has adopted an ordinance (2008/23) about the rules and procedures for the state 

owned enterprises [soe] with regard to (i) the acquisition and transferring of shares, (ii) dividend policy, (iii) appointment and discharge of 

management. the primary objective of this ordinance is aimed at promoting sound management and control principles for the soe’s. 

on october 29, 2009 the executive Council of the island of Curaçao has adopted a resolution “the Corporate Governance Code” in which 

resolution the complete policy outlines of Corporate Governance principles for the soe’s are stipulated. in accordance with the above men-

tioned resolution of the executive Council, the Corporate Governance Code takes effect as of January 1, 2010.  the soe’s already as of the 

year 2009 must record in their annual Report a separate chapter about the Group’s corporate governance structure and its adherence to the 

Corporate Governance Code. any non-compliance to the code must also be recorded in the annual report.  

the Board of supervisory directors considers it as well as its duty to sustain the Government, the shareholders and the Board of Managing 

directors as much as possible in this important task by complying completely and proactively through our planning & control cycle with all 

regulations, laws and incorporated and internal procedures. 

in order to be effective in compliance with this “Code”, the Group already has requested legal advice about the way the Group already is 

complying with the different provisions of this government resolution. also this legal advice entails all the additional improvements that are 

needed in the Group’s planning & control processes and procedures in order for it to be in full compliance with the “Code”. this legal advice is 

shared with the Board of supervisory directors and the Board will supervise Management in the year ahead in order to have all the improve-

ment activities duly planned and executed in the year ahead.   



20

IN
TE

G
RA

TE
D

 U
TI

LI
TY

 H
O

LD
IN

G
 N

.V
. -

 A
q

U
A

LE
c

TR
A

 |
 C

o
n

so
li

d
a

te
d

 a
n

n
u

a
l 

Re
po

Rt
 2

00
9

2.3. MeetinGs oF tHe BoaRd oF supeRvisoRy diReCtoRs 

the supervisory Board met on 5 occasions in 2009 to discuss and treat such matters as:

• the interim and annual report;

• audit committee reports;

• approval several investment projects;

• progress reports investments and reorganization;

• selection process CFo and appointment Ceo;

• other corporate issues.

Members of the supervisory Board and the Board of Managing directors also consulted together in subcommittees of the supervisory 

Board.

AuDit-/BuDget coMMittee:

MeMBeRs: 

• Mr. e.e. Capella

• Mr. K. Covington

• Mrs. J.M. Krijger-Rodrigues Conduto   

AuDit coMMittee Meetings:

the audit committee met once in 2009 to discuss and treat amongst others, issues related to the following topics:

• annual financial report 2008 and 3rd quarter financial report 2007;

• Management letters by external auditors;

• Revenue and accounts receivable reports.

the external auditors KpMG accountants B.v. and pricewaterhouseCoopers n.a. were also represented at the meetings of the audit commit-

tee regarding the annual financial report 2008 and the Management letters 2008. on behalf of iuH n.v. most meetings were attended by 

the tier 1 Managers of Finance, the Manager internal audit department and the Manager Customer Relations. 

BuDget coMMittee Meeting:

the budget committee has not met in 2009, to discuss and to treat the consolidated budget 2010. due to circumstances not controllable by 

Management, the budget 2010 was treated at the beginning of the year 2010.   

RisK coMMittee:

MeMBeRs: 

• Mrs. s.C.F. Römer 

• Mr. F.B.M. Kunneman (until June 1, 2009)

• Mr. e. n. ys (as of June 1, 2009)

in 2008, the Board of supervisory directors, has decided to install a Risk Committee from its midst, in order to have a better oversight on all 

risk related matters with regard to the business of the Group. Key control area’s to realize the Group’s goals have been identified, which are 

(i) Governance (ii) Compliance (iii) Culture and (iv) Risk Management. the first objective of this committee has been identified as, provid-

ing reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of the Group’s objectives. this assurance must be given, by embedding all risk related 

activities into a enterprise Risk Management system, that must be implemented in the years to come. in 2009 the Risk committee met only 

one time. the discussed topics were (a) governance & compliance, (b) risk management projects and (c) introduction of the enterprise risk 

framework (eRM).     
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2.4. annual FinanCial RepoRt and dividend pRoposal  

We herewith submit to you the consolidated annual report 2009 of integrated utility Holding n.v. (d.b.a. aqualectra) as drawn up by the 

Board of Managing directors and approved by our supervisory Board of directors. KpMG accountants Bv has audited the consolidated 

financial statements for the year ended december 31, 2009; its opinion is included in this annual report.

Based on the enterprise Resource plan (utility plan 2030) all the necessary investments in order to guarantee the supply of electricity and 

water to the island of Curaçao were identified. the Board of supervisory directors has been duly informed and updated about the corporate 

objectives being (i) quality of the supply, (ii) reliability of the supply, (iii) less environmental burden and (iv) least cost option of the supply. 

the Board of supervisory directors fully sustains these objectives and the way Management is complying with its targets in order to finally 

to realize these objectives. 

in order to finance the identified investments and to refinance the existing debt, aqualectra has issue a bond loan on december 28, 2009 

arranged by the Central Bank of the netherlands antilles. the above-mentioned bond loan has been structured based on the assumption 

that the financial performance of aqualectra must improve for the coming years and that aqualectra as of the year 2010 and further, must 

be able to finance the identified investments partially out of its own cash flows. 

also reference is made to the resolution of the executive Council of the island Government of Curaçao, dated november 8, 2002 in which 

the following matters have been ‘inter alia’ resolved:

• the set-up and tariff structure for water and electricity as of 2002;

• the level of the applicable tariffs for water and electricity for the years 2003 and 2004;

• that the Group is allowed to realize a yearly return on equity of 8%;

• that the regulatory account as of 2002 starts with a total amount to be recovered of anG 15.4 million regarding 2001;

• that the increase or decrease of the regulatory account will be quarterly monitored and evaluated and yearly verified based on the 

audited financial report of the Group;

• that, if the fuel and other direct costs are not fully covered through the direct costs component of the applied tariff due to the increase 

of the fuel costs of the production compared to the level of fuel costs of 2002, the Group is allowed to charge the under coverage to 

the consumers retrospectively.

as of 2003, with exception of the year 2005 and 2007 in which years a return on equity of 12.8% respectively 9.6% has been realized, this 

projected return (8%) on equity has not been realized, mainly because the fuel and other direct cost coverage has not been allowed by the 

island Government. 

in order to assure that the Group will be able to realize its future objectives  the reliability of the supply of water and electricity, the future 

investment plan of aqualectra still needs to be considered and financed, reason why it is not advisable to pay out dividends to the Common 

shareholder at this stage. 

Considering the afore-mentioned we advise you:

1. to accept the financial statements 2009 as included and approved by the supervisory Board of directors;

2. to approve no dividend payment to the common shareholders;

3. to add the result (after tax) for financial year 2009 to the balance of the retained earnings;

4. to discharge the Board of Managing directors for their management and the supervisory Board of directors for their supervision during 

the year under report.
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2.5. CoMposition oF tHe BoaRd oF supeRvisoRy diReCtoRs   

on december 31, 2009 the supervisory Board of integrated utility Holding n.v. consisted of the following directors:

# name  function

 1 Mrs. s.C.F. Römer Chair person

 2 Mr. e.n. ys (as of June 1, 2009) director

 3 Mr. o.a. Martina director

 4 Mrs. J.M. Krijger-Rodrigues Conduto director

 5 Mr. e.e. Capella director   

• as of June 1, 2009 Mr. e.n. ys has replaced Mr. F.B.M. Kunneman on the Board of supervisory directors. the Board extends its gratitude 

to Mr. Kunneman for his dedication and support to the Group. 

• as of december 30, 2009 Mr. K. Covington and Mr. t. Fukuda have resigned from the Board of supervisory directors. the Board extends 

its gratitude to Mr. Covington and Mr. Fukuda for their dedication and support to the Group. 

in accordance with the articles of incorporation of integrated utility Holding nv, members of the Board of supervisory directors are entitled 

to a financial compensation. in the year under report, the following compensations has been paid to the respective Board Members.  

 name  in Ang

 1 Mrs. s.C.F. Römer 17,787

 2 Mr. e.n. ys (as of June 1, 2009) 10,375

  Mr. F.B.M. Kunneman (until June 1, 2009) 7,411

 3 Mr. o.a. Martina 17,787

 4 Mrs. J.M. Krijger-Rodrigues Conduto 17,787

 5 Mr. e.e. Capella 17,787

the supervisory Board would like to point out that none of its members have any other relationship with integrated utility Holding n.v. and 

are therefore independent. all members of the supervisory Board of directors frequently attended the meetings of the supervisory Board and 

the relevant subcommittees of the supervisory Board. the supervisory Board would like to address a special word of thanks to the Board of 

Managing directors and the staff of the aqualectra companies for their contribution to the further development of aqualectra.

 

Willemstad, august 19, 2010

on behalf of the supervisory Board, 

(original was signed)

Mr. s.C.F. Römer

Chair person of the supervisory Board 
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3. Business RepoRt

3.1. HiGHliGHts FoR tHe yeaR

financial Data (anG x 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008 

Operating revenues 

sales electricity 406,704 376,884  

sales water 102,234 119,482  

sales services 15,425 16,306  

Operating expenses

total operating expenses production 105,093 103,021  

total operating expenses distribution 131,266 141,897  *

Results

operating profit / (loss) production 32,227 (9,109) *

operating profit / (loss) distribution 25,634 (9,714) *

operating profit  / (loss) Holding 4,976 8,258 *

Consolidated net profit / (loss) 24,423 (17,019) *

Financial data 

Working Capital (168,856) (44,215) 

eBitda  113,046 41,448  

eBit  51,531 (12,923)  *

eBt 39,839 (26,047) *

equity 289,904 368,355  *

long term liabilities 237,362 283,587  *

short term liabilities 382,430 223,196  

Financial ratio’s   

debt service Coverage Ratio 0.82 0.61 

adjusted debt service Coverage Ratio 0.55 0.38 

debt/eBitda Ratio 0.39 0.24

solvency Ratio 31.87% 33.77%

Current Ratio 0.56 0.80  

Return on equity 8.42% (4.62)% *

operational Data   

Electricity   

sales electricity in mwh 654,390  633,691  

electricity intake from  production in mwh 728,726  678,913  

electricity intake from CuC in mwh 121,260  139,374  

electricity intake from wind farms in mwh 29,934  30,479  

number of postpaid connections at year end 43,485 42,968 

number of prepaid connections at year end 19,299 18,435 

average usage households per month in kwh 369 333 

average sales tariff households in anG per kwh 0.6369 0.6395 

average sales tariff in anG per kwh  0.6020 0.5823 

unaccounted for usage in % of mwh intake 12.91% 13.31% 

Water   

sales water in 1,000 m3  9,785  9,420  

Water  intake from production 12,735  12,846  

number of postpaid connections at year end  65,433 70,007 

average usage households per month in m3 8.0 8.2 

average sales tariff households in anG per m3 10.11 12.78 

average sales tariff in anG per m3  10.38 12.80 

unaccounted for usage in % of m3 intake 25.88% 27.47% 

* Restated for comparative purposes
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3.2. CustoMeR Relations

sAles electRicity

in 2009, a total sale of 654.4 MWh has been realized, compared to 2008, when a total sale of 633.7 MWh has been realized. this is an 

increase of sales of 3.2%. this total increase of sales is a result of an increase of 3.0% of sales to the households and 3.4% increases of 

sales to the business sector. 41% of the total sales have been realized to the households, while 59% of the total sales have been realized 

to the business clients. 75% of the total sales to the households have been realized to postpaid clients, while 25% of the total sales to the 

households have been realized to the prepaid clients. 

sAles wAteR

in 2009, a total sale of 9,785 m3 x 1,000 has been realized, compared to 2008, when a total sale of 9,420 m3 x 1,000 has been realized. 

this is an increase of sales of 3.8%.  this increase of sales is a result of 4.5% increases of sales water to the households and an increase of 

2.5% of sales to the businesses. 67% of the total sales have been realized to the households, while 33% of the total sales have been realized 

to the commercial & industrial clients. 

electricity Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008 variance in %

Electricity sales in MWH   

Households 266,447 258,555 + 3.0

Business 165,404 162,480 + 1.7

standard industry 97,940 94,545 + 3.5

export industry 81,888 87,197 - 6.0

import industry 5,935 6,958 - 14.7

aMu 21,491 8,331 + 157.9

Hospitals 8,321 8,103 + 2.6

public lightning 6,964 7,522 - 7.4

total sales electricity 654,390 633,691 + 3.2

Connections   

Households postpaid 43,485 42,968 + 1.4

Households prepaid 19,299 18,435 + 4.6

Business 7,050 6,806 + 3.5

standard industry 167 163 + 2.4

export industry 52 53 - 1.8

import industry 11 11 0.0

aMu 4 1 + 300.0

Hospitals 2 2 0.0

total  amount of connections 70,070 68,439 + 2.3
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water Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008 variance in %

Water sales in 1,000 m3   

Households 6,553 6,268 + 4.5

Business 1,376 1,514 - 9.1

industries 292 367 - 20.4

Cruise ships 48 79 - 39.2

CuC 841 858 - 1.9

aMu 675 334 + 102.0

total sales water 9,785 9,420 + 3.8

Connections    

Households 65,585 64,341 + 1.9

Business 5,718 5,601 + 2.0

industries 38 38 0.0

Cruise ships 5 3 + 66.6

CuC 1 1 0.0

aMu 27 23 + 17.3

total amount of connections 71,374 70,007 + 1.9
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3.3. pRoduCtion

electRicity pRoDuction

the total electricity demand (including the sWRo plant at sta Barbara) in 2009 from the distribution grid was 762,945 MWh (2008: 

738,426 MWh). this is an increase of 3%. also in 2009 a total of 26,521 MWh has been supplied to the sWRo plant at Mundo nobo (2008: 

25,127 MWh). the total demand has increase with 3% compared to 2008.

total demand electricity 2009   2008   2009 - 2008 

  Mwh in % Mwh in % variance in %

total supply to electricity distribution grid 762,945 97 738,426 97% 24,519 3

total supply to aqua design 26,521 3 25,127 3% 1,394 6

        

total demand 789,466 100 763,553 100% 25,913 3

in 2009:

• 93% of the demand was supplied by the production power plant at Mundo nobo and the diesel power plants of dokweg and isla 

(2008: 89%);

• 15% of the demand was supplied by CuC (2008: 18%);

• 3% of the demand was supplied by the wind farms (2008: 4%);

• 11% of the total production and intake was utilized for own use (2008: 11%).  

total production and intake electricity 2009   2008    2009 - 2008 

  Mwh in % Mwh in % variance in %

         

total production Mundo nobo 382,346 49   306,955  40 75,391 25

total production diesel plants 346,380 44  371,958  49 -25,578 -7

total production 728,726 93   678,913  89 -49,813 7

        

total intake cuc 121,260 15   139,374  18 -18,114 -13

        

total intake wind farm playa Canoa 24,934 3   25,799  3 -865 -3

total intake wind farm tera Cora 0,0 0     4,680  1 -4,680 -

total intake wind farms 24,934 3  30,479  4 -5,545 -18

        

total production and intake 874,920 111 848,766  111 26,154 3

own use (85,454) -11 (85,213) -11 (241) 0

        

total production and intake (net) 789,466 100 763,553  100 25,913 3
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wAteR pRoDuction

the total water demand in 2009 from the distribution grid was 12,735,356 m3 (2008: 11,988,983 m3) which is an increase of 6%. also in 

2009, a total amount of 834,576 m3 was supplied to CuC (2008: 856,608 m3). the total demand has increased with 6%.

total demand water 2009  2008  2009 – 2008

  m3 in % m3 in % variance in %

total supply to water distribution grid 12,735,356 94 11,988,983 93 746,373 6

total supply to CuC 834,576 6 856,608 7 -22,032 -3

        

total demand 13,569,932 100 12,845,591 100 724,341 -6

in 2009:

• 22% of the demand was supplied by the production plants at Mundo nobo (2008: 26%);

• 42% of the demand was supplied by the sWRo plant at sta Barbara (2008: 41%);

• 42% of the demand was supplied by the sWRo plant at Mundo nobo (2008: 39%);

• 6% of the total production and intake was utilized for own use (2008: 6%).  

total production and intake water 2009  2008  2009 – 2008 

  m3 in % m3 in % variance in %

production Mundo nobo 2,938,282 22 3,285,073  26 -346,791 -11

intake from sWRo sta. Barbara 5,728,203 42  5,328,047  41 400,156 8

intake from aqua design sWRo plant 5,695,219 42 4,995,764  39 699,455 14

production and intake 14,361,704 106 13,608,884  106 752,820 6

own use (791,772) -6  (763,293) -6 -28,479 4

        

total production and intake 13,569,932 100 12,845,591 100 724,341 6

fuel usAge

the total fuel usage was increased with approximately 1% compared to 2008. iFo usage at the steam boilers increased with 4% while gas 

oil usage at the gas turbines also increased with 8%. on the other hand approximately 21% less fuel was used at the diesel power plant at 

isla due to less production. 

fuel usage 2009  2008  2009 - 2008

  tons in % tons in % variance in %

iFo Mundo nobo 95,787 40 92,285 39 3,502 4

Gas oil Mundo nobo 60,573 26 55,940 24 4,633 8

Mdo Koningsplein 0 0 0 0 0 0

MFo dokweg 44,267 19 41,686 18 2,581 6

Mdo dokweg 331 0 434 0 -103 -24

aFo isla 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mdo isla 1,401 0 552 0 849 154

iFo isla 34,574 15 43,607 19 -9,033 -21

        

total fuel usage Ap 236,933 100 234,504 100 2,429 1

purchase pitch from MWh CuC by ad (barrel) 188,426  216,573   -28,147 -13
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MAintenAnce Activities

Based on the year operational plans for 2009, the necessary maintenance activities have been executed in the year under report. in 2009, 

the “General Work order Completion index (WCi) % for mechanical maintenance has been realized on 86% (target was 95%), for Civil & 

Building 94% (target was 95%), instrument engineering 90% (target was 95%) and for electrical Maintenance & troubleshooting 80% 

(target was 95%). 

pRogRess investMents

For the year 2009 approximately anG 43 million was budgeted for investment projects of which approximately anG 20.5 million was 

budgeted for the expansion of the diesel power plant at dokweg. a total of anG 20.7 million has been spend on the different investment 

projects.  

wAteR pRoDuction Assets:

Asset category   ownership  2009 2008

Mundo Nobo   

Capacity evaporator 3 in m3 per day aqualectra 8,000 8,000

Capacity evaporator 6 in m3 per day  aqualectra 12,000 12,000

Capacity sWRo plant in m3 per day aqua design 10,700 10,700

Sta Barbara    

Capacity sWRo plant in m3 per day aqualectra  18,000 18,000

   

total production capacity   48,700 48,700

   

electRicity geneRAtion Assets:

Asset category   ownership 2009 2008

Wind Energy    

Capacity tera Kora in MW aqualectra 0 0

Capacity playa Canoa in MW  delta Caribbean  9 9

BOO power plant    

average power intake according contract in MW CuC 22 22

Mundo Nobo   

Capacity steam turbines in MW  aqualectra  50 50

Capacity gas turbines in MW aqualectra  25 25

temporary capacity in MW  aggreko 17 17

Dokweg power station    

Capacity diesel generators in MW  aqualectra  37 37

Isla power station    

Capacity diesel generators in MW aqualectra  33 33

   

total installed and available capacity in Mw  193 193
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3.4. distRiBution

in the year under report the necessary upgrading and restructuring programs of the existing infrastructure has taken place, in order to improve 

the quality of the supply of water and electricity. the following projects and updates were implemented in 2009. 

wAteR:

• Restructuring of the main pipelines in the area of st. Willibrodus, prof. Kernkampweg, Wishi and Marchena, veeris and Hofi abou/Cabaje;

• Restructuring of the service lines system in the areas of Mahuma, Rooi santu, Rooseveltweg, van engelen weg and peruweg. 

 

electRicity:

• installation of main distribution cables to main distribution station Goetoeweg;

• installation of 12 kv infrastructure in the areas of sta Barbara;

• several low voltage restructuring to improve the quality of the supply of electricity to the customers.

geneRAl:

• Further digitalization of water infrastructure drawings;

• Further implementation of the Geographical information system, phase 3;

• activities related to the reduction of the water losses e.g. metering, water audits and balancing, according to the year operational plan 

in order to realize the overall reduction of the ‘non Revenue Water’ to approximately 25.9%;

• activities related to the reduction of the electricity losses according to the year operational plan in order to realize the overall reduction 

of the ‘non Revenue electricity’ to approximately 12.9% (of the total imported electric power from the power stations.

opeRAtions AnD MAintenAnce:

wAteR:

the regular maintenance of the transport lines, pumping stations and reservoirs have been executed as planned in the year under report. 

Cleaning and inspection of the water tanks have been realized according schedule and the inspection results were better than expected. in 

2009 a significant reduction of the total amount of trouble calls, has been realized as well. the result is for a great part attributable to the 

intensive maintenance and inspection activities related to the ‘non Revenue Water’ activities. 

in order to guarantee the quality of the stored and delivered drinking water up to standard, the sampling- and inspection program has been 

executed as planned in the year under report. there were no major problems regarding the water quality.

electRicity:

the regular maintenance of the 30 kv transmission grid has been executed as planned in the year under report. a total of 189 medium 

voltage 12 kv transformer stations have been maintained, which is slightly less than the planned 200. the necessary curative and preventive 

maintenance activities have been realized on the low voltage (127/200 volt) distribution grid. also the 12 kv overhead lines have undergone 

their annual preventive maintenance. 
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wAteR tRAnspoRt AnD DistRiBution Assets:
 

Asset category   2009 2008

amount of Reservoirs  25 25

storage capacity in m3  132,890 132,890

  

amount of pumping stations  5 5

amount of pressure boosters  8 7

  

length of transport lines in km  73 73

length of main distribution lines in km  625 617

length of distribution lines in km 1,851 1,839

length of connection lines in km  231 229

  

electRicity tRAnsMission AnD DistRiBution Assets:

Asset category   2009 2008

amount of 66 kv substations  1 1

amount of 66/30 kv transformers  8 8

amount of 66/11 kv transformers  2 2

length of 66 kv transmission system in km 33 33

  

amount of 30 kv substations  10 10

amount of 30/12 kv transformers  20 19

length of 30 kv sub transmission system in km 98 112

  

amount of 12 kv main distribution stations  21 20

length of 12 kv main distribution system in km 366 354

  

amount of 12 kv distribution powerhouses  1,484 1,471

amount of 12 kv/lv 3 phase transformers  1,927 1,898

length of underground 12 kv distribution system in km   721 693

  

amount of 12 kv single phase pole transformers  406 414

length of overhead 12 kv distribution system in km  327 327

  

length of underground lv distribution system in km  786 748

length of overhead lv distribution system in km  1,900 1,900
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3.5. HuMan ResouRCes

geneRAl hRM Activities: 

tRADe unions

as per 2009 the personnel of aqualectra are represented by 4 trade unions:

 

spsa : Representing personnel of the middle management of aqualectra production; 

sesKa : Representing personnel of the middle management of aqualectra distribution;

stK : Representing operational personnel of aqualectra production; 

stKo  : Representing operational personnel of aqualectra distribution.   

Cla negotiations with all 4 unions were finalized in the year under report. in accordance with the business plan 2010, further integration of 

the different labour conditions as well as the representation of personnel is intended and proposed to the relevant parties.   

peRfoRMAnce MAnAgeMent AnD AccountABility (pM&A)

in the year under report further implementation of the pM&a policy was executed. this program is embedded in the renewed ‘planning & 

Control’ cycle of the Group and is based on the competencies and result oriented agreements with all personnel. 

tRAinee pRogRAM

as per september 2009, 7 trainees have been placed within the aqualectra organisation. this program is ongoing in 2010.

the next step pRoJect

the Board of Managing directors has initiated in the year under report a project for the organizational development of aqualectra related 

to the investment planning for the coming years (till 2014). a new organizational structure which will support the next level integration has 

been defined and should be realized by the year 2014. 

DevelopMent woRKfoRce

workforce holding production Distribution Bottling co. total

31-12-2002 6 308 429 n/a 743

31-12-2003 6 300 423 n/a 729

31-12-2004 6 293 438 n/a 737

31-12-2005 6 293 427 n/a 726

31-12-2006 5 285 416 2 708

31-12-2007 5 290 410 2 707

31-12-2008 5 286 391 2 684

31-12-2009 5 296 388 2 691

variance vs 31-12-2008 0 + 10 -3 0 + 7
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outflow 2009:        

 holding production Distribution Bottling co. total

pension vidanova 0 1 8 n/a 9

pension apna 0 0 3 n/a 3

pension/medically unfit 0 0 0 n/a 0

early Retirement plan (vut) 0 0 3 n/a 3

own request 0 0 2 n/a 2

decease 0 0 2 n/a 2

termination labor agreement 0 3 4 n/a 7

total 0 4 22 0 26

inflow 2009:

 holding production Distribution Bottling co. total

01-12-2009/ 31-12-2009 0 14 19 0 33
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4. Consolidated FinanCial stateMents

4.1. Consolidated stateMent oF FinanCial position

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008 For specs see notes

Assets     

Non-current assets    5.4.1

property, plant, equipment and Work in progress 575,022  556,282  * 5.4.1.1

investments in equity accounted investees 65,534 76,784  5.4.1.2

other investments 1,820 2,984  5.4.1.2

deferred tax assets 53,746  60,107  * 5.4.1.3

 696,122 696,157   

Current assets    5.4.2

inventories 29,936  26,077   5.4.2.1

trade accounts receivable 78,320  76,381   5.4.2.2

other receivables 24,365  25,552   5.4.2.3

Cash & cash equivalents  80,953  50,971   5.4.2.4

 213,574 178,981   

     

 909,696  875,138    

equity AnD liABilities     

Shareholder’s Equity    4.3

share capital 525,000  525,000   5.4.3.1

preferred stock 0  72,800  * 5.4.3.2

accumulated losses (259,519) (212,426) * 4.3

profit (loss) for the year 24,423  (17,019) * 4.2

  289,904  368,355    

Non-current liabilities     

Financial liabilities 45,015 120,875 * 5.4.4

deferred tax liability 5,277  4,618   5.4.5.1

provisions 187,070  158,094   5.4.5.2

  237,362  283,587    

Current liabilities    5.4.6

trade accounts payable 78,796  86,528   5.4.6.1

Corporate Bonds iuH 238,973 0  5.4.6.2

Bank overdraft 2,482  7,452   5.4.6.3

other liabilities 62,179  129,216   5.4.6.4

  382,430  223,196    

       

 909,696  875,138    

* Restated for comparative purposes.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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4.2. Consolidated stateMent oF CoMpReHensive inCoMe

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008 For specs see notes

continuing opeRAtions    

sales electricity & water 508,938  496,366   5.5.1

direct cost production (223,481) (274,448)  5.5.2

other direct cost of sales (11,358) (16,728)  

Revenue wind farm 0  468   

services & other income 15,425  15,839   

gross profit 289,524  221,497   

      

personnel costs 86,689  84,593   5.5.3

Material usage 9,527  6,415    

Repair & maintenance 24,690  20,063    

Hired services 24,431  27,198    

General expenses 26,591  36,612  * 5.5.3

depreciations on fixed assets 47,243  47,831  * 

depreciations on other assets 3,021  4,448    

provision bad debts 4,550 5,168   

total operating expenses 226,742 232,328  

       

Results from operating activities 62,782  (10,831)  

    

interest expense (net) 11,692  13,124  * 5.5.4

net finance costs 11,692  13,124   

      

share of loss of equity accounted investees 

(net of income tax) 11,251 2,092    

profit / (loss) before income tax 39,839  (26,047)  

      

profit tax (15,416) 9,028  * 5.5.5

profit / (loss) for the year 24,423  (17,019)  

      

other comprehensive income / (loss)     

actuarial (losses)  (24,335) (13,701)  4.4

defined benefit plan, gain asset ceiling adjustment (156) 22,425   4.4

income tax (expense) on other comprehensive income 8,396 (3,205)  4.4

other comprehensive (loss) / income for the year, 

net of income tax (16,095) 5,519  

      

total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year 8,328 (11,500)

*  Restated for comparative purposes.  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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4.3.  Consolidated stateMent oF CHanGes in  
sHaReHoldeRs’ eQuity

(amounts in anG * 1,000) share share preferred Accumulated total For spec

 capital premium stock  losses  equity  see notes

Balance at January 1, 2008 470,000 55,000 72,800 (204,864) 392,936 * 

Comprehensive income for the year

loss for the year 0 0 0 (17,019) (17,019) * 4.2

other comprehensive income 0 0 0 5,519 5,519 * 4.4

total comprehensive income / 

(loss) for the year 0 0 0 (11,500) (11,500)  

       

dividend preferred stock 0 0 0 (13,081) (13,081) * 5.4.3.2

Balance at December 31, 2008 470,000 55,000 72,800 (229,445) 368,355  

       

Balance at January 1, 2009 470,000 55,000 72,800 (229,445) 368,355  

Comprehensive income for the year   

profit for the year 0  0  0  24,423  24,423   4.2

other comprehensive income / (loss) 0  0  0  (16,095)  (16,095)   4.4

total comprehensive income for the year 0  0  0  8,328  8,328  

       

purchase of preferred stock 0  0  (72,800) 0  (72,800)  5.4.3.2

dividend preferred stock 0 0 0 (13,979) (13,979)  5.4.3.2

Balance at December 31, 2009 470,000  55,000  0  (235,096) 289,904   

     

* Restated for comparative purposes.
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4.4.  Consolidated stateMent oF otHeR CoMpReHensive  
inCoMe

(amounts in anG * 1,000) 2009 2008 For specs see notes

Effect Asset Ceiling Adjustment   

defined Benefit pension plan – asset Ceiling adjustment (156) 22,425  5.4.5.2

 (156) 22,425   

Actuarial gains / (losses)   

provision medical expenses retired employees (7,567) 12,457  5.4.5.2

provision supplementary pension apna (dt)  (5,494) (615)   5.4.5.2

provision early retirement benefit (vut) (625) 5  5.4.5.2

provision for anniversary bonus (1,647) (33)  5.4.5.2

defined Benefit pension plan (9,002) (25,515)  5.4.5.2

 (24,335) (13,701)  

Deferred tax items directly to or from equity   

Miscellaneous 0 (195) * 

provision medical expenses retired employees 2,611 (4,297)   

provision for anniversary bonus 568 11   

defined benefit pension plan 3,106 1,066  

provision supplementary pension apna (dt) 

and early retirement benefit (vut) 2,111 210  

 8,396 (3,205)  

    

other comprehensive (loss) / income for the year (16,095) 5,519  

  

* Restated for comparative purposes.
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4.5. Consolidated CasH FloW stateMent

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008 For specs see notes

Cash-flow from operating activities    

profit / (loss) for the year 24,423  (17,019) * 4.2

Adjustments for:    

depreciations on fixed assets 47,243  47,831  * 5.4.1.1

depreciations on other assets 3,021  4,448   5.4.1.1

share of (profit) loss of equity accounted investees 11,251 2,094  5.4.1.2

Change in deferred tax asset 6,361 (5,740) * 

Change in deferred tax liability 659 (180) * 

Change in inventories (3,859) 470   

Change in trade accounts receivable (1,939)  (11,217)  

Change in other receivables 1,187  (4,862)  

Change in trade accounts payable (7,732) 30,955   

Change in other liabilities (excluding interest paid) (61,065) 50,990  * 

Change in provisions 28,976  (5,421)  

 48,526 92,349  

Cash-flow from investing activities   

acquisition of property, plant, equipment (69,004) (40,408) * 5.4.1.1

adjustment to bookvalue 0 (1,700) * 

Repayment other investments 1,164 2,180  5.4.1.2

 (67,840) (39,928)  

Cash-flow from financing activities    

Repurchase of preferred stock  (72,800) 0  5.4.3.2

Repayments of loan and movement in current maturities (63,321)  (36,032) * 

proceeds from issue of Bond  238,973 0  5.4.6.2

loan Curoil 0  46,774 * 

other long term liabilities (12,539) (39,309)  * 

interest paid (5,973)  (13,846) * 

dividends declared on preferred stock (13,979) (13,081) * 

other comprehensive income (16,095)  5,519  * 4.4

 54,266 (49,975)  

    

Balance at start of year 43,519  41,073   

increase  34,952  2,446  

Balance at end of year 78,471  43,519  

The balance at end of year comprises of:    

Cash & cash equivalents 80,953  50,971   5.4.2.4

Bank overdrafts (2,482) (7,452)  5.4.6.3

Balance at end of year 78,471  43,519    

*  Restated for comparative purposes.  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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5. notes to tHe Consolidated FinanCial stateMents

5.1 GeneRal 

integrated utility Holding nv (aqualectra, hereinafter “the Group”) was incorporated on september 12, 1997 in Curaçao na. the shares 

of Kompania di awa i elektrisidat n.v. (K.a.e.), a water and electricity production Company and Kompania di distribushon di elektrisidat 

i awa (Kodela), a water and electricity distribution Company, were transferred into this Holding.

the headquarters of aqualectra is located at Rector zwijssenstraat 1, Curaçao n.a. 

the objectives of the Group are:

 investing funds in shares of utility Companies which have the goals of producing and distributing water and electricity; and• 

Managing, controlling and administering of other Companies and representing interests of the shareholders and financers in / of the • 

Group.

the Group’s authorized capital amounts to anG 600 million, consisting of 600 shares at anG 1 million par value each, of which 470 shares 

were issued to the island territory of Curaçao on June 1, 1998.

the share capital was paid up by means of the contribution of the Kodela (aqualectra distribution) and Kae (aqualectra production) 

shares. the pay up in full of the 470 shares placed through the contribution of Kodela and Kae has created a share premium of anG 55 

million. during 2009 there were no movements in the capital and share premium.

these consolidated financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of directors on July 28, 2010. the shareholders and the su-

pervisory Board of directors have the power to amend the financial statements after the date of issuance.

5.2. GeneRal aCCountinG poliCies

BAsis of pRepARAtion

the accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the international Financial Reporting standards 

(iFRs). the consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except as disclosed in the accounting policies 

below.

the preparation of financial statements in conformity with international Financial Reporting standards requires the use of estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 

financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. although the estimates are based on 

management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates.

cRiticAl Accounting estiMAtes AnD JuDgMents

the Group applies estimates and judgments which are based on historical experience and on other factors including expectations of future 

events that are to be reasonable under the circumstances. the Group’s critical accounting estimates and assumptions and critical judgments 

in applying the entity’s accounting policies are being discussed in this paragraph.
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a. cRiticAl Accounting estiMAtes AnD AssuMptions

the Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. the resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldomly equal the 

related actual results. the estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Provision bad debts

trade debtors are valued at the actual billing amounts for electricity and water. other receivables are valued at the billed amounts. a provi-

sion has been made for doubtful debts. in the calculation of the amounts to be provided for, assumptions based on historical experience 

concerning amounts that are not being received within a certain period of time are made. if the realized amounts receivable turn out to be 

more impaired than expected, an additional amount for provision bad debts will be recorded. 

Provision employee benefits

the present value of the defined benefit obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a 

number of assumptions. the assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) include the discount rate. any changes in these assump-

tions will impact the carrying amount of defined benefit obligations. the Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each 

year. this is the interest rate that should be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required 

to settle the obligations. in determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers the interest rates of “high-quality” government 

bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of 

the related pension liability.

also, for the calculation of the provision Future Medical expenses a critical assumption is the indexation rate used. the indexation rate rep-

resents the expected inflation rate corrected for a medical technology index. Changes in the indexation rate can have material effects on the 

provision as is shown in the sensitivity analysis in note 5.4.5.2. 

other key assumptions for obligations are based in part on current market conditions.

additional information is disclosed in note 5.4.5.2.

Cumulative tax losses to be compensated with future taxable profits

the deferred tax assets of the Group are mainly attributable to cumulative tax losses for which it is probable that future taxable profit will 

be available to be utilized against these. the tax losses will expire in a period of ten years commencing in the year in which the fiscal loss 

was incurred. the estimation of the future taxable profits that can be utilized against these tax losses is based on management’s income 

forecast. the income forecast of the Group is based on assumptions with regard to market developments of electricity and water, fuel costs, 

demographic movements, the level of electricity and water tariffs, etc. significant changes in these assumptions may have a significant impact 

on the extent to which the past taxable losses can be utilized. 

b. cRiticAl JuDgMents in Applying the entity’s Accounting policies

Impairment test Property, Plant and Equipment

the Group performs yearly an impairment test on its property, plant and equipment. in order to assess the fair value of the property, plant and 

equipment, the present value of future generated cash flows (recoverable value of the assets) are calculated. to calculate the future generated 

cash flows, assumptions and judgments are made with regard to future profits, investments, interest rates and the capitalization rate based 

on the available information about the business, technological and operational outlook. significant changes in these assumptions may have a 

significant impact on the present value of future generated cashflows and therefore on the fair value of the property, plant and equipment.

inteRnAtionAl finAnciAl RepoRting stAnDARDs

Management has concluded that the Consolidated Financial statements fairly represent the Group’s financial position, financial performance 

and cash flows. the Consolidated Financial statements comply in all material respects with applicable international Financial Reporting 

standards.
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RepoRting cuRRency

the financial statements are stated in thousands of netherlands antillean Guilders (anG). transactions in foreign currency are translated 

against the exchange rate at transaction moment and all monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated 

against the exchange rate at reporting date. 

coMpARAtives

in 2007 Mirant sold his preferred shares to Marubeni Corporation. part of the sale transaction of the preferred shares, was the cancellation 

of the put-option. as of december 2007 the purchaser of the preferred shares may no longer convert the preferred shares into common 

stock. the purchaser may also no longer exercise its right to withdraw its investments in the Group. Given the nature of the preferred shares 

these are no longer presented as long term liabilities, but have been reclassified and presented as equity. in 2008 the reclassification of the 

preferred shares from long term liability to equity did not take place. this reclassification took place in 2009. 

Based on this also the interest paid related to the preferred shares in 2008 has been reclassed as dividend in the comparative figures. 

Further, adjustments were made into the deferred tax assets and liabilities, mainly due to restatement as result of misstatements in prior 

years tax calculations.

Besides above standing adjustments, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current year.

new stAnDARDs

a. stAnDARDs, AMenDMents AnD inteRpRetAtions effective in 2009

iFRiC 18, transfer of assets from Customers (effective date (transfer on or after) July 1, 2009):   • 

iFRiC 18 clarifies the requirements of iFRs for agreements in which an entity receives from a customer an item of property, plant, and 

equipment that the entity must then use either to connect the customer to a network or to provide the customer with ongoing access to 

a supply of goods or services (such as a supply of electricity, gas or water). in some cases, the entity receives cash from a customer that 

must be used only to acquire or construct the item of property, plant, and equipment in order to connect the customer to a network or 

provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods or services (or to do both).

ias 16 (amendment), ‘property, plant and equipment’ (and consequential amendment to ias 7, ‘statement of cash flows’) (effective • 

from January 1, 2009).

ias 23 (amendment), ‘Borrowing costs’ (effective from January 1, 2009). it requires an entity to capitalize borrowing costs directly at-• 

tributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset (one that takes a substantial period of time to get ready 

for use or sale) as part of the cost of that asset. the option of immediately expensing those borrowing costs will be removed. 

ias 27 (Revised), ‘Consolidated and separated financial statements’ (effective from July 1, 2009).• 

ias 1 (Revised), ‘presentation of financial statements’ (effective from January 1, 2009).the revised standard will prohibit the presenta-• 

tion of items of income and expenses (that is, ‘non-owner changes in equity’) in the statement of changes in equity, requiring ‘non-owner 

changes in equity’ to be presented separately from owner changes in equity. all non-owner changes in equity will be required to be 

shown in a performance statement, but entities can choose whether to present one performance statement (the statement of compre-

hensive income) or two statements (the income statement and statement of comprehensive income). 

iFRs 3 (Revised), ‘Business combinations’ (effective from July 1, 2009). the revised standard continues to apply the acquisition method • 

to business combinations, with some significant changes. the group will apply iFRs 3 (Revised) prospectively to all business combina-

tions from 1 January 2010. 

ias 36 (amendment), ‘impairment of assets’ (effective from January 1, 2009). the amendment is part of the iasB’s annual improve-• 

ments project published in May 2008. Where fair value less costs to sell is calculated on the basis of discounted cash flows, disclosures 

equivalent to those for value-in-use calculation should be made. the group will apply the ias 28 (amendment) and provide the required 

disclosure where applicable for impairment tests from January 1, 2009. 

ias 19 (amendment), ‘employee benefits’ (effective from January 1, 2009). the effect of the application of the amendment is not mate-• 

rial in the financial statement.



46

IN
TE

G
RA

TE
D

 U
TI

LI
TY

 H
O

LD
IN

G
 N

.V
. -

 A
q

U
A

LE
c

TR
A

 |
 C

o
n

so
li

d
a

te
d

 a
n

n
u

a
l 

Re
po

Rt
 2

00
9

iFRs 7 ‘Financial instruments – disclosures’ (amendment) – effective 1 January 2009. the amendment requires enhanced disclosures • 

about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. in particular, the amendment requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level 

of a fair value measurement hierarchy. as the change in accounting policy only results in additional disclosures, there is no impact on 

the comphrehensive income.

• there are a number of minor amendments to iFRs 7, ‘Financial instruments: disclosures’, ias 8, ‘accounting policies, changes in ac-• 

counting estimates and errors’, ias 10, ‘events after the reporting period’, ias 18, ‘Revenue’ and ias 34, ‘interim financial reporting’, 

which are part of the iasB’s annual improvements project published in May 2008 (not addressed above). these amendments are 

unlikely to have an impact on the group’s accounts and have therefore not been analysed in detail.

b.  stAnDARDs, AMenDMents AnD inteRpRetAtions to existing stAnDARDs thAt ARe not yet effective AnD 

hAve not Been eARly ADopteD By the gRoup

the following standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for the Group’s ac-

counting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2010 or later periods, but the Group has not early adopted them:

various: improvements to iFRs’s 2009  • 

effective date: dealt with on a standard-by-standard basis generally January 1, 2010.

ias 1 (amendment), ‘presentation of financial statements’. the amendment is part of the iasB’s annual improvements project published • 

in april 2009. the amendment provides clarification that the potential settlement of a liability by the issue of equity is not relevant 

to its classification as current or non current. By amending the definition of current liability, the amendment permits a liability to be 

classified as non-current (provided that the entity has an unconditional right to defer settlement by transfer of cash or other assets for 

at least 12 months after the accounting period) notwithstanding the fact that the entity could be required by the counterparty to settle 

in shares at any time. the group will apply ias 1 (amendment) from January 1, 2010. it is not expected to have a material impact on 

the group’s financial statements. 

c.  inteRpRetAtions to existing stAnDARDs thAt ARe not yet effective AnD not RelevAnt foR the gRoup’s 

opeRAtions

the following interpretations to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning 

after January 1, 2009 or later periods but are not relevant for the Group’s operations:

iFRs 1 (amendment), ‘amendments to iFRs 1 First-time adoption of international Financial Reporting standards- additional exemp-• 

tions for first-time adopters’ (effective from January 1, 2010).

iFRs 2 (amendment), ‘amendments to share-based payment – Group Cashsettled share-based payment transactions’ (effective from • 

January 1, 2010).

d. stAnDARDs, AMenDMents AnD inteRpRetAtions effective in 2009 But not RelevAnt to the gRoup

the following standards, amendments and interpretations to published standards are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or 

after January 1, 2009 but they are not relevant to the Group’s operations:

• iFRs 8, ‘operating segments ‘(effective from 1 January 2009). iFRs 8 replaces ias 14 and aligns segment reporting with the require-

ments of the us standard sFas 131. this standard is currently not applicable to the Group.

• iFRs 2 (amendment), ‘share-based payment’ (effective from 1 January 2009).

• ias 32 (amendment), ‘Financial instruments: presentation’, and ias 1 (amendment), ‘presentation of financial statements’ –  

‘puttable financial instruments and obligations arising on liquidation’ (effective from 1 January 2009).

• iFRs 1 (amendment) ‘First time adoption of iFRs’ and ias 27 ‘Consolidated and separate financial statements’ (effective from  

1 January 2009). 

• iFRs 5 (amendment), ‘non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations’ (and consequential amendment to iFRs 1,  

‘First-time adoption’) (effective from 1 July 2009).
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• ias 28 (amendment), ‘investments in associates’ (and consequential amendments to ias 32, ‘Financial instruments: presentation’ and 

iFRs 7, ‘Financial instruments: disclosures’) (effective from 1 January 2009). 

• ias 38 (amendment), ‘intangible assets’ (effective from 1 January 2009). 

• ias 39 (amendment), ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement’ (effective from 1 January 2009). 

• ias 29 (amendment), ‘Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies’ (effective from 1 January 2009).

• ias 31 (amendment), ‘interests in joint ventures (and consequential amendments to ias 32 and iFRs 7) (effective from 1 January 2009).

• ias 40 (amendment), ‘investment property’ (and consequential amendments to ias 16) (effective from 1 January 2009).

• ias 41 (amendment), ‘agriculture’ (effective from 1 January 2009).

• ias 20 (amendment), ‘accounting for government grants and disclosure of government assistance’ (effective from 1 January 2009).

• iFRiC 15, ‘agreements for construction of real estates’ (effective from 1 January 2009).

• iFRiC 16, ‘Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation’ (effective from 1 october 2008).

BAsis of consoliDAtion 

subsidiary undertakings, which are those entities in which the aqualectra-group has an interest of more than one half (50%) of the voting 

rights or otherwise has power to exercise control over the operations, are consolidated. subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which 

control is transferred to the aqualectra-group and are no longer consolidated from the date that control ceases. all intercompany transac-

tions, balances and unrealized results on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Where it is necessary, accounting policies for 

subsidiaries have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the aqualectra-group.

integrated utility Holding n.v. (hereinafter iuH) has the following subsidiaries:

aqualectra production (Kae n.v.) (100% subsidiary of integrated utility Holding n.v.) –

aqualectra distribution (Kodela n.v.) (100% subsidiary of integrated utility Holding n.v.) –

General engineering & utility services n.v. (Geus) (100% subsidiary of aqualectra distribution (Kodela n.v.))  –

aqualectra Multi utility Company n.v. (aMu) (100% subsidiary of integrated utility Holding n.v.) –

aqualectra Bottling Co. n.v. (100% subsidiary of aqualectra Multi utility Company n.v. (aMu)) –

KuMepe n.v. (100% subsidiary of integrated utility Holding n.v.). –

all above standing entities are hereinafter mentioned as “the Group”.

aqualectra production, aqualectra distribution (which has been consolidated with Geus) and aqualectra Multi utility Company n.v. (which 

has been consolidated with aqualectra Bottling Co. n.v.) have been consolidated into the financial figures. aqualectra is responsible for the 

management of the abovementioned companies (with exception of KuMepe n.v.). during the year 2009 and 2008 KuMepe n.v. did not 

employ activities.

foReign cuRRency tRAnslAtion

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions; gains and losses resulting 

from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, are 

recognized in the statement of comprehensive income, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges.

pRopeRty, plAnt, equipMent AnD woRK in pRogRess

property, plant, equipment and other non-current assets are stated at historical cost less depreciation. depreciation is calculated on the 

straight-line method to write off the cost of each asset, or the recoverable amounts, to their residual values over their estimated useful life, 

taking into account the useful life of the most important components.

expenses for the decommissioning of the Mundo nobo plant are included in property, plants and equipment. these capitalized expenses are 

based upon estimations performed by an independent expert. depreciation hereon is calculated by the straight-line method to write off the 

cost of each asset, or the recoverable amounts, to their residual values over their estimated useful life, taking into account the useful life of 

the most important components.
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Major spare parts related to plant and equipment items are stated at historical cost less depreciation. depreciation of these major spare parts 

is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost of the major spare parts, or the recoverable amounts, to their residual values 

over their estimated useful life, taking into account the useful life of the plant and equipment item they are related to.

Work in progress consists of property, plant and equipment under construction and is stated at cost. the cost of work in progress comprises 

of materials, direct labor, services charges and other costs.

property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets are reviewed for impairment losses whenever events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. an impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of 

an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, which is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and value in use. 

investMents in equity AccounteD investees

investments in equity accounted investees (associates) are accounted for by the equity method. these are entities over which the Group 

generally has between 20% and 50% of voting rights or over which the Group has significant influence but no control, over the financial 

and operating policies.

otheR investMents

the loan to CuC is classified as a financial asset that is not quoted on the active market. such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus 

any directly attributable transaction cost. subsequent to initial recognition of loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

leAses

leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. payments 

made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a 

straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

inventoRies

inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value (the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business). Cost is deter-

mined by using the latest c.i.f. prices plus additional costs. the cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises of raw materials, direct 

labor, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity) and it excludes borrowing costs. the cost of 

fuel inventory is determined by using the first-in, first-out (FiFo) method.

tRADe Accounts ReceivABle

trade accounts receivable are recognized initially at fair value and are subsequently lessened by a provision for impairment. a provision for 

impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due 

according to the original terms of the receivables. significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bank-

ruptcy or financial reorganization and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. the 

amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the estimated value of the collectible amount which is 

based upon previously established collection patterns and aging analysis. the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an 

allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income within ‘provision for bad debts’. When 

a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. subsequent recoveries of amounts 

previously written off are credited against ‘provision for bad debts’ in the statement of comprehensive income.
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cAsh AnD cAsh equivAlents

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments, and 

bank overdrafts. in the statement of financial position, bank overdrafts are included in borrowings in current liabilities.

shARe cApitAl

Common shares and preferred shares are classified as equity. dividends on common shares and preferred shares are recognized in equity in 

the period in which they are declared.

loAns

Borrowings are recognized initially at receipt of the proceeds, net of transaction costs incurred. in subsequent periods, borrowings are stated 

at amortized cost using the effective yield method; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value 

is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings.

DefeRReD tAx Assets / liABility

deferred tax liability is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and li-

abilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. the principal temporary differences arise from depreciation on property, plant 

and equipment and tax losses carried forward. Currently enacted tax rates are used in the determination of deferred income tax. deferred 

tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can 

be utilized.

pRovisions

provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an 

outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

eMployee Benefits

APNA Pension plan

the employees of the Group (ex civil servants) participate partially in a pension plan administered at algemeen pensioenfonds van de neder-

landse antillen (apna). the pension plan administered by apna is a multi employer defined benefit plan giving right to the participant to a 

pension calculated as a fixed percentage of the average salaries of the last two years of service taking into account a franchise. at reporting 

date there was no information available regarding a possible liability of the Group resulting from possible increases of the premiums in the 

future.

APNA Supplementary pension (‘Duurtetoeslag’)

in 1943 the government guaranteed civil servants a pension that amounts to 70% of their average salary received during 24 months before 

their retirement. the supplementary pension (the so called ‘duurtetoeslag’) is the difference between the guaranteed pension amount and 

the pension actually built-up as per the apna pension agreement. as per national decree of July 12, 1995 it was stipulated that the legal 

entity that ultimately employs the person concerned is responsible for payment of the supplementary pension. 

the provision for apna supplementary pension (‘duurtetoeslag’) is based on an actuarial calculation. up to the financial statements 2005, 

all actuarial gains and losses have been accounted for in the statement of comprehensive income.

as of 2006 all actuarial gains and losses are immediately recognized in the period in which they occur through the statement of other com-

prehensive income, instead of being recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. For the principal actuarial assumptions please 

refer to paragraph 5.4.5.2.
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APNA Early retirement benefit (‘VUT’)

in the national ordinance of december 27, 1995 it is stipulated that the civil servants have the option of filing a request with the Governor to 

retire from service at the age of 55. the resulting liability due to early retirement of persons for the period in which these early retired persons 

are between the age of 55 and 60 years will be borne by the legal entity that employed the respective persons.

the provision is based on an actuarial calculation. as of 2006 all actuarial gains and losses are immediately recognized in the period in which 

they occur through the statement of other comprehensive income, instead of being recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. 

For the principal actuarial assumptions please refer to paragraph 5.4.5.2. 

Vidanova pension plan

the Group participates in a multi employer defined benefit plan (vidanova) in which it is compulsory for all employees to participate if and 

when they comply with all the required conditions.

the pension plan is generally funded by payments from employees and by the employers taking into account recommendations of indepen-

dent qualified actuaries. a level premium contribution is charged as an advance for the defined Benefit plans. 

the advance contributions for this plan are based on a percentage of the pension base. the funded status of the pension plan is actuarially 

calculated on a periodic basis, in accordance with ias 19 and could result in a surplus. 

a surplus, a positive difference between the contributions and the yearly expenses, can be used to cover eventual shortfalls in the future 

resulting from back service. 

Regarding the active members of the plan, sufficient information is available to account for the Companies’ proportionate share of the de-

fined benefit obligation, plan assets and post-employment benefit costs.  the obligations towards retired staff are fully funded by the pension 

fund and no costs are charged to the Group.

For defined benefit plans, the pension accounting costs are assessed using the projected unit credit method. under this method, the cost of 

providing pension is charged to the statement of comprehensive income so as to spread the regular cost over the service lives of employees 

in accordance with the advice of qualified actuaries who carried out a full valuation of the plans. the pension obligation is measured as the 

present value of the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of government securities, which have terms of approximately the 

terms of the related liability. 

the Group adopted the accounting policy for the treatment of actuarial gains and losses, as is allowed by the amendment to ias 19 employee 

Benefits, issued in February 2005. actuarial gains and losses are immediately recognized in the period in which they occur through the 

statement of other comprehensive income based on the statement of Recognized income and expense (soRie) approach, instead of being 

deferred making use of the corridor approach. this treatment results in a more faithful representation of the pension plan in the statement 

of financial position and reflects the results of economic events in the period in which they occur.

since there is no asset ceiling study available, in accordance with iFRiC 14, which can determine whether and to what amount there are pos-

sible economic benefits resulting from the funded assets, no assets have been recognized in the statement of financial position. at december 

31, 2009, based on actuarial calculations, the fair value of the plan assets underspends the present value of the funded obligations by anG 

(6,913,000) (2008: fair value exceeds anG 1,850,000).

For the principal actuarial assumptions please refer to paragraph 5.4.5.2.
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Medical costs retired employees

according to the collective labor agreements of aqualectra distribution and aqualectra production, retired employees will be compensated 

to a certain extent for their medical costs. Both the active employees of the aqualectra Companies and the employer contribute 1.5% of the 

total gross salary as compensation for the medical costs of retired employees. Retired personnel contribute 2% of their pension. in the year 

2005 a separate legal entity, KuMepe n.v., was incorporated in which these rights will be administered. up until 2008 KuMepe n.v. was 

not yet operational.

iFRs requires that the provision for these costs is based on actuarial calculations. the independent actuary obtained sufficient information 

to make mentioned calculations.

Management-negotiations with labor unions have led to amendments in the collective labor agreements regarding the health coverage plan 

for the retired personnel and the financing (structure) of mentioned plan. the actuarial calculation is based on the articles of the labor agree-

ment regarding the coverage and financing of the medical costs for retired employees. 

since 2006 there are no uncertainties regarding the extent that the future medical costs for retired personnel will be borne by aqualectra. 

therefore, based on ias 8 paragraph 5, the actuarially calculated provisions were recognized in full in the financial year 2006.

the Group adopted the accounting policy for the treatment of actuarial gains and losses, as is allowed by the amendment to ias 19 em-

ployee Benefits, issued in February 2005. actuarial gains and losses are immediately recognized in the period in which they occur through 

the statement of other comprehensive income, instead of being deferred making use of the corridor approach. this treatment results in a 

more faithful representation of the health plan in the statement of financial position and reflects the results of economic events in the period 

in which they occur.

For the principal actuarial assumptions please refer to paragraph 5.4.5.2.

Anniversary bonus

according to the collective labor agreements of aqualectra distribution and aqualectra production, employees are entitled to an anniversary 

bonus linked to the amount of years of service. 

iFRs requires that the provision for these expenses is based on actuarial calculations. the independent actuary obtained sufficient informa-

tion to make these calculations.

as per January 1st 2008, management-negotiations with labor unions have led to amendments in the collective labor agreements regarding 

the anniversary bonus. the actuarial calculation is based on the revised articles of the labor agreement regarding the coverage and financing 

of the anniversary bonus. 

all future expenses relating to the anniversary bonus will be borne by the Group, and in accordance with ias 8 paragraph 5, the actuarially 

calculated provisions were recognized in full from the financial year 2007 onwards.

the Group adopted the accounting policy for the treatment of actuarial gains and losses, as is allowed by the amendment to ias 19 employee 

Benefits, issued in February 2005. actuarial gains and losses are immediately recognized in the period in which they occur through the state-

ment of other comprehensive income, instead of being deferred making use of the corridor approach. this treatment results in a more faithful 

representation of the provision for anniversary bonus in the statement of financial position and reflects the results of economic events in the 

period in which they occur.

For the principal actuarial assumptions please refer to paragraph 5.4.5.2.
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tRADe Accounts pAyABle

trade accounts payable are stated at nominal value, unless otherwise mentioned.

otheR Assets AnD liABilities

other assets and liabilities are stated at nominal value, unless otherwise mentioned.

Revenue Recognition

sales are recognized upon delivery of products and customer acceptance, if any or on the performance of services. sales are shown net of 

discounts and after eliminating sales within the aqualectra-group. other revenues earned by the aqualectra-group are recognized on the 

following basis:

interest income - on effective yield basis

dividend income - when the aqualectra-group’s right to receive payment is established

inteRest expenses

interest expenses on borrowings are expensed in the period to which they relate.

pRofit tAx

profit tax expenses are recognized based on the best estimate of the weighted average annual profit tax rate expected for the full financial 

year. the estimated average annual tax rate used is 34.5%.

5.3. FinanCial RisK ManaGeMent

the Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risks (including the effects of foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and 

tariff risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. the Group’s overall risk management is aimed at minimizing the potential adverse effects of these 

risks on the financial performance of the Group.

the Board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. the Board 

has established the Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring the Group’s risk management policies. 

the committee reports regularly to the Board of directors on its activities.

the Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and 

controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in 

market conditions and the Group’s activities. the Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a 

disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

the Group audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures, 

and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. the Group audit Committee is 

assisted in its oversight role by internal audit. internal audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and 

procedures, the results of which are reported to the audit Committee.
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5.3.1 MARKet RisKs

5.3.1.1 foReign exchAnge RisK

Foreign exchange risk is the probability of loss occurring from an adverse movement in foreign exchange rates. 

the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk resulting from purchasing parts, services and supplies from foreign suppliers. these foreign 

transactions are mainly invoiced in united states dollars (usd) and/ or euRo (euR). 

the following table summarized the currency risk in respect of recognized financial assets and financial liablities.

Monetary assets and liabilities by currency of denomination

Foreign currency exposures year end  december 31, 2009

 (amounts in anG * 1,000) usD euRo gBp chf

Financial assets   

Cash & cash equivalents 10,280     61   0   0

Financial liabilities   

trade accounts payable   (7,593) (3,602) (17) (19)

Borrowing   (4,356)        0   0   0

total currency of denomination (1,669) (3,541) (17) (19)

total currency in Ang (3,038) (9,269) (51) (36)

there is a fixed exchange rate between the netherlands antillean Guilder (anG) and the usd of anG 1.82 to the usd, which thus mitigates 

the foreign exchange rate exposure of the transactions and positions of the Group in usd’s. 

purchasing transactions, outstanding trade accounts payable positions and cash positions at banks in euRo can expose the Group to a 

certain foreign exchange risk. the significance of the risk is shown in the schedule below: 

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

total euRo purchase orders made (in euRo) 8,480 8,138

total euRo purchase orders made (in anG) 21,369 21,858

average euRo rate 2.5199  2.6859 

      

Foreign exchange gain / (loss) on euRo transactions in anG 710  (758)

  

Monetary liabilities outstanding euRo in anG per year end 9,428 2,324

Monetary liabilities outstanding euRo in euR per year end 3,602 920

  

Monetary assets euRo held in bank accounts in anG 158  2,682 

  

exchange rate per year end 2.6175 2.5286

  

the Group’s policy is to regularly review the significant risks arising from foreign exchange rate exposure and when appropriate, to hedge 

significant foreign currency transactions at the point the commitment is entered into, by purchasing the foreign currency and / or limiting 

the period that commitments in foreign exchange rates are exposed to foreign exchange risk. 

Cash flow constraints combined with the materiality of foreign exchange risk per transaction, led to management’s decision to bypass afore-

mentioned policies during 2009 and 2008.
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the sensitivity analysis on the following page of the outstanding position of the trade accounts payable in euRo as per year-end to move-

ments against the euRo assumes a -10% exchange rate change and +10% exchange rate change from the foreign exchange level on 

december 31, 2009. a –10% exchange rate change, which represents a strengthening of the anG against the euRo, will have a positive 

impact on the outstanding trade accounts payable and the profit and loss of anG 339,722 (2008: anG 232,557). While a +10% exchange 

rate change, which represents a weakening of the anG against the euRo, will negatively impact the outstanding trade accounts payable 

and the profit and loss with anG 339,722 (2008: anG 232,557).

 carrying amount as per sensitivity analysis of an exchange rate

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec. 31, 2009 change of:

     -10% change (*) +10% change (*)

  in euR in anG in euR in anG in euR in anG

exchange rate per year end 0.382 2.6175 0.4245 2.35575 0.3473 2.87925

exchange rate change    (0.0425) 0.2618 0.0347 (0.2618)

outstanding trade accounts 

payable in euRo per year end 3,602 9,428   (340)   340  (**)

impact on the profit and loss account       (340)   340  (**)

(*) -10% change means a strengthening of the ANG compared to the EUR: (1 EUR: ANG 2.35575/ 1 ANG: EUR 0.4245)

 +10% change means a weakening of the ANG compared to the EUR: (1 EUR: ANG 2.87925/ 1 ANG: EUR 0.3473) 

(**) Interpretation of effect:

  Amount in brackets “(….)” means a decrease of the outstanding trade accounts payable amount in the Statement of financial position 

and a decrease of the foreign exchange expenses in the Statement of comprehensive income.

 carrying amount as per sensitivity analysis of an exchange rate 

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec. 31, 2008 change of:

     -10% change (*) +10% change (*)

  in euR in anG in euR in anG in euR in anG 

exchange rate per year end 0.3955 2.5286 0.4394 2.27574 0.3595 2.78146 

exchange rate change     (0.0439) 0.2529 0.036 (0.2529) 

outstanding trade accounts

payable in euRo per year end 920  2,326    (233)   233  (**)

impact on the profit and loss account        (233)   233  (**)

(*)  -10% change means a strengthening of the ANG compared to the EUR: (1 EUR: ANG 2.27574/ 1 ANG: EUR 0.4394)

 +10% change means a weakening of the ANG compared to the EUR: (1 EUR: ANG 2.78146/ 1 ANG: EUR 0.3595) 

(**) Interpretation of effect:

  Amount in brackets “(….)” means a decrease of the outstanding trade accounts payable amount in the Statement of financial position 

and a decrease of the foreign exchange expenses in the Statement of comprehensive income.

5.3.1.2.  inteRest RAte RisK

the interest rate risk of the Group can be defined as the risk of incurring extra interest costs due to adverse movements of the interest rate 

of non-fixed interest bearing loans of the Group.

the Group has long term loans payable with fixed and variable interest rates. the variable rates are based upon the liBoR. an overview of 

the Group’s interest bearing long term loans is shown in the table below.
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in managing interest rate risk, management monitors developments in the Group’s loan rates and keeps abreast of interest rates both locally 

and internationally. the possibility of loan restructuring existed in 2009, and management has opted to use these potentials during 2009 as 

the impact on the Group’s interest expenses were considered to be material. 

 

 interest rate 

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Remark 

 2009 2008 2009 2008  

Aqualectra Production   

loan Curoil 0  37,502  7.00% 7.00%  Fixed

loan diesel power plant isla 25,367  27,904  5.00% 5.00%  Fixed

Current maturities of long term loans (2,537) (30,037)    

  22,830 35,369     

 interest rate 

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Remark  

 2009 2008 2009 2008

Aqualectra Distribution   

loan spu 170  222  10.50% 10.50% Fixed

loan MJp 26,312  26,312  2.50% 2.50% Fixed

loan vida nova 1,499  1,887  8.00% 8.00% Fixed

leasehold obligation - Cars 1,007 1,354 2.86% 2.86% Weighted avg. cost of  

     equity & liability

Current maturities of long term loans (10,767) (9,496)    

  18,221 20,279     

 interest rate 

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31  Remark

 2009 2008 2009 2008

Integrated Utility Holding N.V.   

loan RdK n.v. 5,504  6,116  9.00% 9.00%  Fixed

loan niB usd portion 0  25,804  n.a. 6.70%  3m usd liBoR +3.0%

loan niB anG portion 0  57,343  n.a. 8.00%  Fixed

loan KFW 7,928  11,892  1.20% 5.80%  6m usd liBoR +0.7%

Current maturities of long term loans (9,468) (35,928)      

             

  3,964 65,227   

total financial liabilities 45,015 120,875        

a sensitivity analysis has been performed reflecting the effect that changes in the interest rate of the two liBoR based loans (the KFW-loan) 

could have on the Group. the analysis is shown below.

KFW-loans:

the sensitivity analysis assumes a -14.0% change and a +14.0% change of the 6 months liBoR rate compared to the average interest rate 

for the year 2009 on the average outstanding principal amount of the KFW-loan. a -14.0% change of the interest rate will have a positive 

impact of anG 17,000 on the profit and loss account. While a +14.0% change of the interest rate will have a negative impact of anG 

17,000 (2008: anG 70,000) on the profit and loss account. 
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note: 

the -14.0% / +14.0% change of the interest percentage for the KFW-loan are based on the average historic change of these percentages 

over a 5 (five) year period.  

NIB USD Tranche A & B loans:

in the year 2009 the niB usd tranche a & B loan has been paid off. the sensitivity analysis for the year 2009 assumes a -0.5% change and 

a +0.5% change of the 3 months liBoR rate compared to the average interest rate for the year 2008 on the average outstanding principal 

amount of the niB usd tranche a & B loans. a -0.5% change of the interest rate will lead to a slight decrease of the interest expenses of 

anG 5,000 (2008: anG 13,000) on the profit and loss account. While a +0.5% change of the interest rate will have a slight increase of the 

interest expenses of anG 5,000 (2008: anG 13,000) on the profit and loss account.

note: 

the -0.5% / +0.5% change of the interest percentage for the niB usd tranche a & B loans and the -14.0% / +14.0% change of the interest 

percentage for the KFW-loan are based on the average historic change of these percentages over a 5 (five) year period.  

  Realized

 interest rate interest sensitivity analysis

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31  - 14.0%   +14.0%

 2009  2008  2009  2008 2009  change change

loan KFW 7,928  11,892 1.20% 3.42% 250          (17)            17

  Realized

 interest rate interest sensitivity analysis

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31  - 14.0%   +14.0%

 2008  2007  2008  2007 2008  change change

loan KFW 11,892  16,451 3.42% 5.19% 706                 (70)                70

  Realized

 interest rate interest sensitivity analysis

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31  - 0.5%   +0.5%

 2009  2008  2009  208 2009  change change

         

loan niB usd tranche a  - 17,290 6.70% 6.70%   

loan niB usd tranche B - 11,574 6.65% 6.65%   

  - 28,864 6.68% 6.68% 1,623 (5) 5

  Realized

 interest rate interest sensitivity analysis

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31  - 0.5%   +0.5%

 2008  2007  2008  2007 2008  change change

loan niB usd tranche a  17,290 31,156 6.70% 6.70%   

loan niB usd tranche B 11,574 20,855 6.65% 6.65%   

  28,864 52,011 6.68% 6.68%  2,207  (13)  13
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5.3.1.3. tARiff RisK

the electricity and water tariffs to consumers are comprised of two components, namely:

the direct cost component, which covers the direct costs for producing the electricity and water which the Group purchases externally;• 

the fixed cost component, which covers the operational costs. • 

the Group’s tariff risk can be defined as the probability that fluctuations in the purchase prices of the direct costs component of the electricity 

and water tariffs to consumers can not be sufficiently and timely covered through the electricity and water tariffs to consumers. 

the Group is exposed to the volatility of international fuel-price developments, which influences the direct cost component of the electricity 

and water tariffs to consumers. the chart below shows the development in fuel throughout the year.

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Realized  Realized

 Dec 31, 2009  Dec 31, 2008 variance % variance

AVG FUEL PRICES PER UNIT in ANG   

Fuel usage iFo - Mn 691 817                 (126) -15%

Fuel usage Go - Mn 750 1,236                 (486)  -39%

Fuel usage MFo - dW 716 940                 (224)  -24%

Fuel usage iFo dpp isla 651 879                 (228)  -26%

Fuel usage Mdo - Knpl 1,537 926 611 66%

Fuel usage Mdo - dpp isla 981 1,536                (555)  -36%

FUEL USAGE Quantity    

Fuel usage iFo - Mn ton 95,831 92,014 3,817 4%

Fuel usage Go - Mn m3 69,119 63,429 5,690 9%

Fuel usage MFo - dW ton 43,884 41,414 2,470 6%

Fuel usage iFo dpp isla ton 30,849 42,565 (11,716) -28%

Fuel usage Mdo - Knpl 281 373 (92) -25%

Fuel usage Mdo - dpp isla 1,556 591 965 163%

FUEL USAGE ANG    

Fuel usage iFo - Mn 66,244             75,175               (8,931)  -12%

Fuel usage Go - Mn 51,836             78,398             (26,562)  -34%

Fuel usage MFo - dW 31,508             38,929               (7,421)  -19%

Fuel usage iFo dpp isla 20,083             37,415             (17,332)  -46%

Fuel usage Mdo - Knpl & dpp isla 339                345                  (6) -2%

accruals on fuel usage 1,516                908                608 67%

     

total fuel usage in Ang 171,526 231,170  (59,644)  -26%

according to an island executive Council’s resolution of november 8, 2002, the Group is allowed to fully charge the adaptations in the direct 

costs component of electricity and water tariffs to consumers, only after a resolution by the island executive Council with regard to the extent 

of the increase of the electricity and water tariffs. increases of the direct costs component of the electricity and water tariffs, which can not be 

directly charged in the electricity and water tariffs to consumers, are temporarily allocated to the regulatory account of the Group in order to 

be charged in future electricity and water tariffs.

the regulatory account of the Group comprises of the balance of the under- and over coverage on the direct costs components and the base 

component, meaning the extent to which the Group has pre-financed increases in the direct costs component of the electricity and water 

tariff. the under coverage balance of anG 95.6 million as of december 31, 2009 (2008: anG 88.4 million) is presented in paragraph 5.4.6.5 

contingent asset. 
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Management regularly monitors the development in fuel prices and the price of relevant fuel derivatives and their consequences for the li-

quidity and the position of the regulatory account of the Group. this can result in management formally submitting its requests for electricity 

and water tariff adjustments to the island executive Council whenever this is necessary. 

delays in decision making by the island executive Council with regard to electricity and water tariff increases and / or the island executive 

Council honoring lower increases for the electricity and water tariffs than requested by the Group, could lead to a significant increase in the 

regulatory account of the Group thus leading to a weaker financial position of the Group.

a sensitivity analysis of the direct cost components 2009 is shown in the schedule below:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Realized 2009 Budget 2010  -10.0% change  -5.0% change

total sales electricity in MWH 654,390  665,318  665,318  665,318 

direct cost component e 0.3101  0.3527  0.3174  0.3351 

Coverage direct cost component e 202,926  234,658  211,172  222,948 

     

total sales water in m3 * 1,000 9,785  9,136  9,136  9,136 

direct cost component W 2.6728  3.0353  2.7318  2.8835 

Coverage direct cost component W 26,153  27,731  24,958  26,344 

     

total coverage through tariffs 229,079  262,389  236,130  249,292 

     

total direct costs (234,721) (262,363) (262,363) (262,363)

     

(under) over coverage direct costs (5,642) 26  (26,233) (13,071)

Conclusion: a -10% or -5% deviation from the budgeted coverage on the direct cost component could have a negative impact on the existing 

under-coverage of respectively anG 26 million and anG 13 million.

a sensitivity analysis of the direct cost components 2008 is shown in the schedule below:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Realized 2008 Budget 2009 -10.0% change -5.0% change

total sales electricity in MWH 633,691  640,069  640,069  640,069 

direct cost component e 0.2904  0.3364  0.3028  0.3196 

Coverage direct cost component e 184,024  215,319  193,813  204,566 

     

total sales water in m3 * 1,000 9,420  9,425  9,425  9,425 

direct cost component W 5.0891  5.1180  4.6062  4.8621 

Coverage direct cost component W 47,939  48,237  43,413  45,825 

     

total direct costs (291,177) (241,905) (241,905) (241,905)

     

(under) over coverage direct costs (59,214) 21,651  (4,679) 8,486 

Conclusion: a -10% deviation from the budgeted coverage in 2008 on the direct cost component could have had a negative impact on the 

budgeted under-coverage of anG 4.7 million. a -5% deviation from the budgeted coverage in 2008 on the direct cost component will have 

a positive impact on the budgeted over-coverage of anG 8.5 million.
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5.3.2. cReDit RisK

For the Group, credit risk is the risk as a consequence of the uncertainty in a counterparty’s (customers, etc.) ability to meet its obligations 

leading to the possibility of a loss incurred by the Group due to the financial failure by the counterparty.

Credit risk within the Group mainly arises from the course of business of billing customers for delivering electricity and water and other types 

of services rendered by the Group. significant financial difficulties of customers (e.g. the probability that the customer will enter bankruptcy 

or financial reorganization) and or default payments are considered as credit risk indicators. 

Credit risk losses result in a provision being created for uncollectible amounts, which is based upon previously established collection patterns 

and aging analyses. 

Credit risk within the Group also arises from cash and cash equivalents (note 5.4.2.4) with bank and financial institutions and from other 

investments as the long term deposits concerning Curaçao utility Company (note 5.4.1.2).

the Group endeavors to mitigate this credit risk by using reputable financial institutions for investing and cash handling purposes. as per 

december 31, 2009 the Group has cash balances placed at 7 reputable banking institutions.

the credit risk management within the Group entails:

• assessment of the credit quality of retail customers by the Customer Relations department, taking into account the past experiences 

with the customer, the customer’s financial position and other factors;

• Collection procedures for outstanding invoices to customers; 

• Revenue protection program (e.g. discontinuation of the delivery of electricity and water). 

the table below shows a breakdown of accounts receivable and other receivables as at reporting date.

(amounts in anG * 1,000)  December 31, 2009  December 31, 2008

  trade receivables other receivables trade receivables other receivables 

industrial & large commercial 28,107  9,144  32,338  8,564 

Commercial 20,315  8,906  23,573  16,435 

Households 38,941  970  37,014  1,694 

Government 7,063  17,582  2,522  27,998 

standing orders 3,441  0  2,930  0 

new accounts 275  0  4,343  0 

inactive 37,514  0  29,653  0 

other 278  1,370  1,618  507 

Balance of receivables 135,934  37,972  133,991  55,198

     

Clients’ payments in transit (3,158) 0  (3,560) 0 

Billing cycle to be invoiced 20,022  0  17,934  0 

     

gross receivables 152,798  37,972  148,365  55,198 

     

less allowance for doubtful debts (53,954) (15,860) (52,322) (32,045)

less customer deposits (20,524) 0  (19,662) 0 

        

net receivables 78,320  22,112  76,381  23,153

a high risk group of trade accounts receivable is the inactive group. these clients have closed their accounts and the Group has procedures in 

place to avoid these customers reopening the account elsewhere or under another name. inactive accounts are 100% provided for.
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the maximum exposure and categorization of the assets which are exposed to credit risk are set out in the table below.

(amounts in anG * 1,000)  December 31, 2009

 trade other  Receivables from

 receivables receivables  related parties

neither past due nor impaired 31,451  1,041 0 

past due but not impaired 64,756  19,595     1,477 

individually impaired 56,591  15,859  0 

gross 152,798  36,495  1,477 

   

less allowance (53,954)  (15,860) 0 

Customer deposits (20,524)  0  0 

 (74,478) (15,860) 0 

net 78,320  20,635  1,477 

(amounts in anG * 1,000)  December 31, 2008

 trade other  Receivables from

 receivables receivables  related parties

neither past due nor impaired 42,627  3,165  0 

past due but not impaired 53,416  18,511     1,477 

individually impaired 52,322  32,045  0 

gross 148,365  53,721 1,477 

   

less allowance (52,322) (32,045) 0 

Customer deposits (19,662) 0  0 

 (71,984) (32,045) 0 

net 76,381  21,676  1,477 

the aging of the trade receivables, other receivables and receivables from related parties that are past due but not impaired is as follows:

(amounts in anG * 1,000)  December 31, 2009

 trade other  Receivables from

 receivables receivables  related parties

past due up to 30 days 0  0 0

past due up to 60 days 53,425  67 0

past due more than 60 days 11,331  19,528 1,477

  64,756  19,595  1,477 

      

(amounts in anG * 1,000)  December 31, 2008

 trade other  Receivables from

 receivables receivables  related parties

past due up to 30 days 0  0 0

past due up to 60 days 6,501  2,059 0

past due more than 60 days 46,915  16,452  1,477

  53,416  18,511  1,477 
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the Group’s policy for impairing outstanding amounts for trade accounts receivable and other receivables, despite efforts to collect the 

outstanding amounts, is as follows:

Trade accounts receivable (excluding government accounts):

as mentioned earlier the inactive accounts group is considered to be a high risk group. total balances which are outstanding are a. 

considered 100% impaired;

other groups of trade accounts receivable which have outstanding balances of more than 4 (four) months are considered 50% impaired;b. 

specific client accounts which are not yet overdue more than 4 (four) months but for which the Group has sufficient indication of c. 

uncollectability of these accounts, are also impaired. 

Other receivables:

other receivables which are outstanding more than 2 (two) years are 100% impaired;a. 

other receivables which are outstanding more than 1 (one) year but less than 2 (two) years are 30% impaired.b. 

no collateral is provided for these receivables and the full impairment provision has been provided against the gross amount.

5.3.3. liquiDity RisK

liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Group will encounter difficulties in raising funds to timely meet its commitments.

Management applies prudent centralized liquidity management which implies a cash flow matching approach in which projected cash in-

flows are matched against outflows. the Group’s aim is to maintain sufficient cash and lines of credit to be able to comply with its obligations. 

in this, management applies the necessary measurements to either adapt cash inflows or cash outflows.

in broad terms, management uses long-range projection for a maximum of five years, which has been approved by the Group’s Board of 

directors. a three year extract from the budget is shown below:

forecasted liquidity

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2010 Dec 31, 2011 Dec 31, 2012

opening balance  78,471  108,899 132,527

  

operating proceeds  62,328  85,415  98,415 

Cash outflow for investments (160,900) (173,495) (167,897)

payments for debts (22,900) (8,292) (3,973)

new loan 151,900  120,000  80,000 

increase in cash balances 30,428  23,628  6,545 

   

Balance at end of year 108,899 132,527 139,072

the Group updates the cash flow planning for a period of 12 months, on a weekly basis and uses this cash flow planning for control purposes.
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the liquidity status as per december 31, 2009 is shown below: 

liquidity status

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Funds encumbered  > 5 years  1,929  1,904 

Funds encumbered 1 < years < 5 36,445  37,006 

available cash & cash at banks 40,097  4,609 

  

total credit facilities 78,471  43,519 

prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of com-

mitted credit facilities. the table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities, being its long term loans, other non-current liabilities and 

current liabilities, into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at reporting date to the contractual maturity date. the long 

term loans and other non current liabilities amounts include the interest expenses for the remaining period at reporting date. all amounts 

are the undiscounted cash flows:

long term loans and other non current liabilities 

(amounts in anG * 1,000)   At December 31, 2009   At December 31, 2008

 <1 year ≥1 and >5 years <1 year ≥1 and >5 years

  ≤5 years   ≤5 years

Curoil loan 0  0 0 27,500  10,202 0

 loan niB usd part 0 0 0  13,627  14,157  0 

 loan niB anG part 0 0 0  23,076  41,320  0 

 loan RdK 5,974 0  0  1,137  5,974  0 

 loan KFW 3,964 3,964 0  4,187 8,130 0 

 loan isla dieselcentrale 3,747  16,833  11,181  3,874  14,228  17,534 

 loan MJp 15,691 7,781 10,762 14,135 7,781 12,319

 loan spu 73  122 0  73  196 0 

 loan vida nova 524 1,179 0  568 1,660 0 

 29,974 29,880 21,943 88,177 103,648 29,853

current liabilities 

(amounts in anG * 1,000)  At December 31, 2009   At December 31, 2008

 <1 year ≥1 and >5 years <1 year ≥1 and >5 years

  ≤5 years   ≤5 years

trade accounts payable 78,796 0  0    86,528  0  0   

other liabilities 38,468 970 0 52,281 1,027 0

   117,264 970 0 138,809 1,027 0
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5.3.4. cApitAl RisK

Capital risk is the risk that the Group loses its value as a result of which financiers (shareholders, lenders, etc.) may lose all or part of the 

principal amount invested in the Group.

the Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns 

for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to effectively manage the cost of capital.

the chart below shows the ratio’s used by management in monitoring and measuring the development in capital and reserves:

Ratios and financial covenants  

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

debt service coverage ratio (dsCR) 0.82 0.61

Compliance dsCR ratio >1.45 > 1.65

adjusted debt service coverage ratio (adsCR) 0.55 0.38

Compliance adsCR >1.15 n/a 

debt/eBitda ratio (d/e) 0.39 0.24.

Compliance d/e ratio <8.5 < 4

Current ratio (CR) 0.56 0.80

Compliance CR >1.00 n/a

solvency ratio (sR) 31.87% 33.77%

Compliance sR  >30.00% > 35.00%

    

negative net movements of anG 16,095,000 (positive anG 5,519,000 in 2008) occurred directly in capital reserves mainly as a result of 

the ias 19 valuation. see paragraph 4.4 for a breakdown of these movements.
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a significant part of the property, plant, equipment and work in progress of aqualectra production and aqualectra distribution were encum-

bered with a first mortgage and a right of pledge in favor of national investment Bank (na) n.v. to an amount of usd 116,000,000. 

these pledges were released on February 11, 2010.

the annual average depreciation rates are as follows:

Buildings  varying from 2 to 20%

plant & equipment  varying from 31/3 to 20%

distribution network  varying from 31/3 to 12%

other assets  varying from 5 to 331/3 %

Major spare parts are depreciated in accordance with the category of plant & equipment. 

plant / equipment include the book value of decommissioning costs of Mundo nobo and is further specified in note 5.4.5.2.

as per year end 2009 aqualectra had several projects for the acquisition or construction of property plant and equipment. several of these 

projects are based on contractual agreements with suppliers of material and/ or for services. of these projects the following projects have 

material contractual amounts as per year end 2009:

• second extension diesel power station dokweg (total contractual amount is approximately anG 39.2 million);

• Replacement 12 kv switch installation substation Koningsplein (total contractual amount is approximately anG 2.9 million).

5.4.1.2. investMents in equity AccounteD investees AnD otheR investMents

the table below shows the composition of the investment in equity accounted investees and other investments as per december 31, 2009:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

investments in equity accounted investees (CuC Holdings n.v.) 65,535 76,784 

other investments 1,820 2,984 

   

total 67,355 79,768

  

cuRAçAo utility coMpAny holDings n.v.

integrated utility Holding n.v. has a 49% common participation in Curaçao utility Company Holdings n.v. (CuC Holdings) relating to 

100% of the class a shares with a nominal value of usd 19.6 million (anG 35.3 million). CuC Holdings owns 100% of Curaçao utility 

Company (CuC), which company is mainly in charge of the Boo operations on the premises of isla refinery, which commercial operation 

commenced in June 2003. the total issued common capital amounts to usd 40 million. integrated utility Holding n.v. also acquired 100% 

of non-voting class-C shares in CuC Holdings, with a nominal value of usd 8 million (anG 14.4 million).

the total loss of CuC Holdings for the year January 1, 2009 to december 31, 2009 amounts to anG 22,961,000 (anG 4,270,000 for the 

year ending december 31, 2008). the revenue for the year January 1, 2009 to december 31, 2009 amounts to anG 81,532,000 (anG 

77,476,000 in 2008) and assets and liabilities total anG 365,321,000 (anG 387,518,000 per december 2008) and anG 246,759,000 

(anG 245,995,000  per december 2008) respectively. aqualectra’s share in CuC Holdings’ loss for the year January 1, 2009 to december 

31, 2009 amounts to anG 11,251,000 (compared to a profit of anG 2,092,000 for the year 2008) and aqualectra’s share in CuC Holdings’ 

equity as per december 31, 2009 amounts to anG 65,535,000 (this compared to anG 76,785,000 at the same year in 2008).
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long teRM Deposits conceRning cuRAçAo utility coMpAny holDings n.v.

to finance other sponsor obligations for CuC Holdings, integrated utility Holding n.v. granted security deposits for the following l/C’s as 

per december 31, 2009 and 2008:

  Dec 31, 2009  Dec 31, 2008

  amount in anG  amount in anG

inter sponsor agreement  1.81 million  1.81 million• 

Cash collateral deposit 0 million  1.17 million• 

 1.81 million  2.98 million

For further information regarding these letters of credits we refer to note 5.4.6.5 (re: l/C guarantee).

5.4.1.3. DefeRReD tAx Assets

deferred tax assets are attributable to cumulative tax losses for which it is probable that future taxable profit will be available to be utilized 

against these and the difference between the fiscal and commercial carrying value of fixed assets. the tax losses will expire in a period of 

ten years commencing in the year in which the fiscal loss was incurred. the deferred tax asset expected to be recovered after more than 12 

months is anG 42,579,000. the estimation of the future taxable profits that can be utilized against these tax losses is based on manage-

ment’s income forecast.

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Balance at beginning of year 60,107 54,367

Change in deferred tax asset (6,361) 5,740 

Balance at end of year 53,746  60,107 

 

the change in deferred tax asset for the year 2009 and 2008 consists of (anG *1,000):

   dec 31, 2009  dec 31, 2008

integrated utility Holding n.v.:   anG   (1,634)  anG   19,548• 

aqualectra production:   anG   (2,839)  anG ( 1,994)• 

aqualectra distribution:   anG   (1,888)         anG (11,814)• 

   Ang   (6,361)  Ang   5,740
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5.4.2. cuRRent Assets

5.4.2.1.  inventoRies

a summary of stocks as per december 31, 2009 is specified below:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Aqualectra Production 

Materials & spare parts 5,512 6,665 

Fuel & lubricants 7,233 6,083 

Water 534 496 

total Aqualectra production 13,279 13,244

Aqualectra Distribution  

stock in warehouse 15,351 11,574 

Water in reservoirs 916 881 

total Aqualectra Distribution 16,267 12,455

Aqualectra Multi Utility

Materials & spare parts 390 378 

total Aqualectra Multi utility n.v. 390 378 

  

total inventories 29,936 26,077

as shown in the specification above, the total amount of inventories on the statement of financial position include stocks of materials and 

spare parts in warehouses.

the stock was lowered by a provision of anG 8,119 (2008: anG 7,078) for slow movers. 

the supply of water in tanks is valued at the inter-company price between aqualectra production and aqualectra distribution.

inventories of aqualectra production and aqualectra distribution were encumbered with a first mortgage and a right of pledge in favor of 

national investment Bank (na) n.v. to an amount of usd 116,000,000. this pledge was released on February 11, 2010.

5.4.2.2. tRADe Accounts ReceivABle

the composition of trade accounts receivable as per december 31, 2009 is as follows:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Government institutions 2,522 2,522

Business & industrial customers 30,890 32,338

Households 119,386 113,505

 152,798 148,365 

 

Customer deposits (20,524) (19,662)

provision for bad debts (53,954) (52,322)

 (74,478) (71,984)

   

total trade accounts receivable 78,320 76,381

trade debtors are valued at the actual billing amounts for electricity and water. a provision has been formed for doubtful debts. Customers have to 

pay a deposit for each new connection, which remains as amounts repayable on the statement of financial position of aqualectra distribution.
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accounts receivables due by aqualectra distribution have been assigned to MCB Bank n.v. as collateral against bank overdraft facilities 

(refer to note 5.4.6.3). 

accounts receivables of aqualectra production and aqualectra distribution were encumbered with a first priority pledge in favor of national 

investment Bank (na) n.v. this pledge was released on February 11, 2010.

5.4.2.3. otheR ReceivABles

specification as per december 31, 2009:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Aqualectra Production    

prepaid insurance premiums 2,253 2,399 

other receivables 1,694 2,880 

 3,947 5,279

Aqualectra Distribution   

services public lighting 401 8,814 

damage costs and other services to be billed 1,365 1,152 

General debtors 9,410 1,860

Current account  selikor 6,639 6,301

Current account noords 547 49

Current account spu 65 67

Current account WeB Bonaire 19 88

other account receivables (incl. balance Geus) 403 401 

 18,849 18,732

Integrated Utility Holding N.V.   

other receivables 1,477 1,477 

 1,477 1,477

Aqualectra Multi Utility N.V.   

other receivables 92 64 

 92 64 

   

total other receivables 24,365 25,552
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5.4.2.4. cAsh & cAsh equivAlents

the specification cash and cash equivalents as per december 31, 2009 is as follows:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Aqualectra Production  

Cash at banks and on hand 3,665 7,219 

other cash items 0 (150)

 3,665 7,069 

Aqualectra Distribution  

Cash at banks and on hand 13,640 10,627 

other cash items (879) (106)

 12,761 10,521 

Integrated Utility Holding N.V.  

Cash at banks 64,451 33,307

 

Aqualectra Multi Utility N.V.  

Cash at banks and on hand 76 74 

   

total cash & cash equivalents 80,953 50,971

included in the total amount of cash and cash equivalents is anG 17.7 million (2008: anG 31.5 million) which is not at free disposition of 

the Group. this amount consists of:

a total amount of anG 15.8 million due to excess cash deposits (2008: anG 26.9 million) and• 

a total amount of anG 1.9 million which is a time deposit for coverage of one month iuH payment, in case of default  • 

(2008: anG 1.9 million).

a total amount of anG 0 due to cash collateral deposit (2008: anG 1.1 million) and• 

a total amount of anG 0 which was a cash reservation for medical costs for retired employees (anG 2008: anG 1.6 million).• 

this cash and cash equivalents amounting to anG 17.7 million is as per January 11, 2010 in free disposition of the Group.

the Group is entitled to draw from the excess cash deposits if:

the proposed drawdown will be applied towards the financing of approved investments for a financial year provided and to the extent • 

that such approved investments cannot be financed out of the projected cash flow for investment for that financial year;

the technical advisor has certified that it has satisfactorily reviewed the proposed drawdown and that the proposed drawdown is in ac-• 

cordance with the planning of the approved investments for that financial year;

no default is continuing or would result from the proposed drawdown.• 

the average rate of interest on the excess cash deposits during 2009 was 0.125% per year (2008: 3.2%). the interest rate is fixed for three 

months.

as per december 31, 2009 there are bank guarantees amounting to anG 1.7 million in favor of inspectie der invoerrechten en accijnzen 

and douane nederlandse antillen.

the other cash items relate mainly to interest bearing deposits at banks.
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5.4.3. equity

please refer to paragraph 4.3 for a detailed specification of shareholder’s equity.

5.4.3.1. shARe cApitAl

the Company’s authorized capital amounts to anG 600 million, consisting of 600 shares at anG 1 million par value each, of which 470 

shares were issued to the island territory of Curaçao on June 1, 1998.

the share capital was paid up by means of the contribution of the Kodela (aqualectra distribution) and Kae (aqualectra production) 

shares. the pay up in full of the 470 shares placed through the contribution of Kodela and Kae has created a share premium of anG 55 

million. during 2009 and 2008 there were no movements in the capital and share premium.

during 2009 and 2008 movements have occurred directly in equity as a result of ias 19 (employee benefits). the movements are detailed 

in the statement of other comprehensive income as shown in paragraph 4.4.

 

5.4.3.2. pRefeRReD stocK

pRefeRReD stocK

Purchasing of the preferred stock

preferred stock relates to a total of 7,000 shares having a nominal value of anG 1.- per share sold in two tranches in accordance with the 

preferred stock purchase agreement. 

the purchaser, Mirant, agreed to buy at the First tranche Closing, december 19, 2001, 2,800 issued shares of preferred stock for the total 

amount of anG 29,120,000. on september 30, 2002 Mirant agreed to buy at the second tranche closing the remaining 4,200 issued shares 

of preferred stock for the total amount of anG 43,680,000. 

the 7,000 preferred shares bear a cumulative preferred dividend of 16.75%. preferred stock has been issued for the financing of future 

investments in general.

during 2007 Mirant sold its holdings of aqualectra’s preferred shares to Marubeni Corporation.

on March 22, 2009, abu dhabi national energy Company pJsC (taQa), a global energy company, announced it had closed its acquisition of 

a 50% equity stake in the existing Caribbean portfolio of Marubeni Corporation (Marubeni), Japan’s largest trading company.  the purchase 

was made under a 50/50 joint venture focused on long-term investments in the energy sector in the region.  the new joint venture portfolio 

consists of equity stakes in power generation and transmission facilities of which a 25.5% equity interest in Curacao utilities Company n.v. 

taQa’s role is operational, with its 50% interest represented at the board level at each facility and holding key management positions. 

the preferred stock purchase agreement between the Group and Marubeni states that of the purchase price anG 1.00 per share should be allocated 

to nominal share capital of the Group and anG 10,170.4286 per share should be allocated to the preferred stock share premium of the Group. 

Conversion of preferred stocks and put option

as of december 2007 the purchaser may not any longer elect to convert all, but not less than all, of its preferred stocks into Common stock. 

Furthermore, as of fiscal year 2008 the purchaser may also no longer exercise its right to withdraw its investment in the Group through all 

but not less than all of the preferred stock. Given the nature then of the 7,000 preferred shares, these are no longer presented as long term 

liabilities but have been reclassified and presented as equity.

Call Option

at any time the Group has the right (but not the obligation) to purchase from Marubeni all, but not less than all, of the shares of preferred 

stock then held by Marubeni. Concurrently with the closing of the purchase of Marubeni’s preferred stock hereunder, the Common stock 

option, if then held by Marubeni, shall be revoked automatically and without further action.
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the purchase price for the preferred stock is usd 40 million plus all accrued and unpaid dividends thereon.

as per december 30, 2009 the Group entered into a refinancing of its existing debts including the preferred stock held by Marubeni taQa 

and therefore exercised its right to purchase all the preferred stock held by Marubeni taQa and paid all outstanding accrued and unpaid 

preferred dividends thereon  to Marubeni taQa. 

5.4.4. finAnciAl liABilities

Below a summary of balances regarding all outstanding long term loans as per december 31, 2009, specified per Group: 

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Aqualectra Distribution   

loan vida nova pension Fund (spu) 170 222 

loan Meerjarenplan (MJp) 26,312 26,312 

loan vida nova pension Fund (Building) 1,499 1,887 

leasehold obligation - Cars 1,007 1,354

Current maturities of long term loans (10,767) (9,496)

 18,221 20,279

Integrated Utility Holding N.V.   

loan Refineria di Korsou (RdK) n.v. 5,504 6,116 

loan nationale investeringsbank (niB) tranche a 0 25,804 

loan nationale investeringsbank (niB) tranche B 0 57,343 

loan Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau (KFW) 7,928 11,892 

Current maturities of long term loans (9,468) (35,928)

 3,964 65,227

Aqualectra Production   

loan Curoil 0 37,502

loan diesel power plant isla 25,367 27,904

Current maturities of long term loans (2,537) (30,037)

 22,830 35,369

   

total financial liabilities 45,015 120,875

5.4.4.1. long teRM loAns DistRiBution

loAn viDAnovA pension funD (spu):

this agreement was concluded in 1997 for a principal sum of anG 0.55 million. Repayment started in december 1997 and will continue for 

15 years using monthly 10.5% annuities of anG 6,080 including interest. no securities were pledged to this loan.

loAn MeeRJARenplAn (MJp):

in order to finance a comprehensive rehabilitation plan for the water distribution network, it was agreed in 1989 that KaBna would provide 

funds from the “MJp meerjarenplan” of which approximately 50% was to be donated. For the remaining 50% a loan agreement was signed 

in november 1991 for a maximum amount of anG 39 million. Because funding by KaBna was stopped in 1996, only anG 26.3 million 

was drawn. after a grace period of 8 years, repayment was scheduled to start in december 2000 by 22 annual annuities. up till now no 

repayments have been made. 

Currently aqualectra is contemplating settlement of part of the outstanding amount with receivable amount for electricity and water bills of 

different governmental departments. no securities were pledged to this loan. interest was fixed at 2.5% per annum.
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loAn viDAnovA (BuilDing pAteR eeuwensweg 1):

in order to finance the office building situated at the pater eeuwensweg 1, aqualectra distribution entered into a mortgage loan of anG 

3,600,000 with vidanova pension Fund as of april 1, 2003. 

Repayments started as of september 2003 and will continue through March 2013, with monthly 8.00% annuities of anG 43,677.93. vida 

nova pension Fund disposes of the first mortgage on the office building at the pater eeuwensweg 1.

5.4.4.2. long teRM loAns integRAteD utility holDing

loAn RefineRiA Di KoRsou (RDK) n.v.

the repayment of the loan of usd 5 million (anG 9,100,000) plus the prepaid interest by RdK of usd 541,000 started in January 2004, by 

7 years monthly installments until 2010. this loan was formalized on august 8, 2003. no securities were pledged to this loan. interest has 

been fixed at 9% per annum.

loAn nAtionAl investMent BAnK (n.A.) n.v. (niBAnc) 

aqualectra Holding, as the ‘Borrower” and aqualectra production and aqualectra distribution as the ‘Guarantors’ obtained in december 

2002 a usd 114,887,640 (the equivalent of anG 209.1 million) loan facility from a consortium of local and international lenders led by 

national investment Bank (na) n.v. the facility is structured in two tranches (a and B).  

the purpose of the usd 68,820,225 (anG 125.3 million) tranche a (drawn down in 2002) is to refinance and extend the existing usd 

61,552,359 senior debt of the Borrower and the Guarantors and to finance usd 7,267,866 working capital requirements. 

the purpose of the usd 46,067,415 (anG 83,8 million) tranche B (drawn down in 2003) was to finance 77% of the usd 59,860,000 

investments in 2003. 

the facility is senior secured, dual currency (usd and anG) and structured as a 9-year term loan, with a grace period in 2003, limited required 

repayments in 2004 and 2005, followed by full straight-line repayment over 6 years. the new maturity date for the usd loan was changed 

to March 15, 2011.

during 2009 a total amount of anG 83,147,000 of the niB loan was repaid by means of the newly issued bond (refer to note 5.4.6.2).  on 

February 11, 2010 the right of pledge in favor of national investment Bank (na) n.v. on property, plant, equipment and work in progress 

of aqualectra production and aqualectra distribution (refer to note 5.4.1.1) and the accounts receivable from aqualectra distribution (refer 

to note 5.4.2.2) was released. 

loAn KReDitAnstAlt füR wieDeRAufBAu (Kfw)

on January 17, 2002 the Group concluded with alstom energietechnik GmbH, Frankfurt, Germany, a contract for the supply of a new 66 kv 

transmission system on the island of Curaçao and related services for the purpose of the construction of said transmission system. the total 

contract price was usd 20,021,005. 

in order to finance this project, export credit guarantee was necessary, for which the official German export Credit agency (HeRMes) had cov-

ered a portion of the total project costs. Based on this coverage the Group entered on the same date as mentioned above, into a loan agree-

ment with Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau (KfW) from Frankfurt, Germany for usd 20,021,005 plus the coverage fees of usd 1,760,000. 

total loan amount is usd 21,781,005.

Based on the obtained coverage, the loan is structured in two separate agreements:

loan 9950   usd 18,513,854  covered by HeRMes• 

loan 9951  usd   3,267,151 no coverage• 

total loan amount  usd 21,781,005• 
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each agreement was separated in 2 tranches (a and B):

tranche a was assigned to the credit element (project costs) and • 

tranche B was assigned to the payable HeRMes fees.• 

Below an overview of the loan structure:

(amounts in usd) loan 9950 loan 9951 total 

tranche a         17,017,854            3,003,151   20,021,005 

tranche B           1,496,000              264,000   1,760,000 

total         18,513,854            3,267,151   21,781,005 

   

as per december 31, 2009 the outstanding amount is anG 7,928,269 and the short term outstanding is anG 3,964,146.

Repayment for loan agreement #9950 and #9951 is to be effected in 17 and 10 equal consecutive semi annual installments respectively. 

the first installment was due on november 30, 2003 (or 6 months after readiness for operation of the project) and the last installment is due 

in november 2011. as per the end of 2008, agreement # 9951 has been paid in full.

the interest rate for loan 9950 is based on the usd-liBoR plus a margin of 0.700% per annum. the interest rate for loan 9951 is based on 

the usd-liBoR plus a margin of 3.000% per annum. For both loans is agreed that the mentioned variable interest rate can be changed over 

to a fixed interest rate equal to the aggregate of KFW effective funding costs in the us capital market for maturities matching as closely as 

possible the scheduled maturity of such loan amount on the envisaged conversion date plus the above mentioned margins.

as mentioned above the loan 9950 is partially secured by HeRMes coverage, while no other securities have been pledged to loan 9951.

5.4.4.3. otheR long teRM liABilities

this liability concerns the payment by isla for the cost of constructing the diesel power plant (usd 23,000,000). the payment has been 

recorded as a liability as repayment is covered by the monthly iuH installments. For further information we refer to paragraph 5.4.6.5 Com-

mitments and contingencies.

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

long term liability to Refineria isla 25,367 27,904 

loan payable to CuRoil 0 37,502 

Current maturities of long term liability and loan from CuRoil (2,537) (30,037)

  

total other long term liabilities 22,830 35,369 

  

on June 19, 2008 aqualectra production (the Borrower) and CuRoil n.v. (the lender) entered into a loan agreement to payoff various 

outstanding trade payables for the supply of fuel. the remaining amount of the anG 45 million, 7% loan has been paid off in december 

2009.

5.4.5. non-cuRRent liABilities

5.4.5.1. DefeRReD tAx liABility

this liability concerns profit tax due in the future as a consequence of differences between commercial and fiscal methods of profit determina-

tion through accelerated depreciation of tangible fixed assets, calculated against the nominal rate. the tax rate amounts to 34.5%. 



75

IN
TE

G
RA

TE
D

 U
TI

LI
TY

 H
O

LD
IN

G
 N

.V
. -

 A
q

U
A

LE
c

TR
A

 |
 C

o
n

so
li

d
a

te
d

 a
n

n
u

a
l 

Re
po

Rt
 2

00
9

5.4.5.2. pRovisions

the provisions as per december 31, 2009 can be divided in the following categories: 

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

provisions employee benefits 172,726 144,669 

other provisions 14,344 13,425 

   

total provisions 187,070 158,094 

  

pRovisions eMployee Benefits

the provision for employee benefits is comprised by the following categories:

provision for medical costs retired employees;• 

provision for supplementary pension apna (dt);• 

provision for early retirement benefit (vut);• 

provision for anniversary bonus;• 

provision for vacation leave;• 

provision for pension obligations.• 

the provision for employee benefits as per december 31, 2009 can be specified as follows: 

  

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

provision medical costs retired employees 128,430 114,461 

provision supplementary pension apna (dt) 18,518 12,757 

provision early retirement benefit (vut) 1,436 1,651 

provision anniversary bonus 14,552 12,975 

provision vacation leave 2,587 2,453 

provision pension obligations 7,203 372 

total provisions 172,726 144,669 

Provision medical costs retired employees

according to the collective labor agreements of aqualectra distribution and aqualectra production retired employees will be compensated to 

a certain extent for their medical costs. provisions have been made for this obligation directly via equity (see statement of recognized income 

and expenses in paragraph 4.4) and also via the statement of income and expenses.

the calculations are based upon actuarial assumptions which are shown below:

 2009 2008  

discount rate at december 31 5.50% 6.00% 

Rate of return on plan assets 6.10% 6.10% 

inflation 3.50% 3.50% 

Future Medical expenses increases 3.50% 4.00% 

Mortality:

Male: GBM 2000-2005; -1 (2008: GBM 2000-2005; -1)

Female: GBv 2000-2005; -1 (2008:  GBv 2000-2005; -1)

age difference spouse: male is 4 years older than female

Marital status:  100%
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the position of the provision medical costs retired employees is shown below: 

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008 

Liability medical costs retired employees recognized in the statement of financial position  

present value of unfunded obligations 128,546   114,548 

Fair value of plan assets (116) (87) 

unrecognised past service gain 0  0 

liability medical costs retired employees premiums 128,430  114,461 

  

Movement in liability medical costs retired employees   

liability medical costs retired employees at the beginning of year 114,548  119,545 

expenses 9,396  10,234 

Contributions paid (2,965) (2,774)

actuarial losses / (gains) recognized in the statement of total recognized gains and losses 7,567  (12,457) 

liability medical costs retired employees at end of year 128,546 114,548 

  

Amounts recognized in the statement of comprehensive income   

Current service costs 3,011  2,684 

interest costs 6,385  7,550 

expected return on plan assets 0  0 

additional charges 0  0 

past service costs 0  0 

expenses recognized in the statement of comprehensive income 9,396  10,234 

Present value of the unfunded obligations   

present value of the unfunded obligations at the beginning of year 114,548  119,545 

interest costs 6,385  7,550 

Current service costs 3,011   2,684 

Benefits paid (2,965)  (2,774)

actuarial loss / (gain) on obligation 7,567  (12,457) 

present value of the unfunded obligations at end of year 128,546  114,548 

   

Fair value of the plan assets    

Fair value of the plan assets at the beginning of year (87) (68) 

expected return on plan assets 0  0 

actuarial (gain) losses on plan assets 0  0 

additional charge 0  0 

Contributions by the employer (2,200)  (1,810)

Contributions by the participants (794)  (983)

Benefits paid 2,965 2,774

fair value of the plan assets at end of year (116)  (87) 

Development of deficit in the plan   

present value unfunded obligations 128,546  114,548 

Fair value of plan assets (116) (87) 

Deficit in the plan 128,430  114,461 

the expenses have been included in other personnel expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.
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a sensitivity analysis on the present value of the unfunded obligation is presented below:

the following sensitivity analysis reflected below shows the effect on the unfunded obligations based on a 0.25% change in the discount 

rate or in the inflation rate. 

a negative or positive 0.25% change in the applied discount rate would result in deviations of respectively anG 5,332,000 and (anG 

5,021,000) in the unfunded obligations.

a negative or positive 0.25% change in the applied inflation rate would result in deviations of respectively anG 2,693,000 and (anG 

2,606,000) in the unfunded obligations.

Medical expenses retired employees Basis Deviation in  Deviation in

(amounts in anG * 1,000)  discount rate inflation rate

discount rate  5.50% 5.25% 5.75% 5.50% 5.50%

inflation rate 3.50% 3.50% 3.50% 3.25% 3.75%

present value of the unfunded obligation 128,546  133,878  123,525  131,239  125,940

Provision supplementary pension APNA (DT)

iin 1943 the government guaranteed civil servants a pension that amounts to 70% of their average salary received during 24 months before 

their retirement (duurtetoeslagregeling gepensioneerden 1943). Consequently, the government had to pay the difference between the guar-

anteed pension amount and the pension actually built-up as per the apna pension arrangement. as per national decree of July 12, 1995 it 

is stipulated that the legal entity that employed the person concerned is responsible for payment of the aforementioned difference.

as of January 1, 1998 the aov-franchise has been included in the pension plan of “algemeen pensioenfonds van de nederlandse antillen” 

(apna). the pension allowance to be paid by apna under this changed plan is lower than the allowance that would have been paid according 

to the former plan. under certain conditions a supplementary pension has to be paid by the employer to the employees participating in this 

pension plan to compensate for the discrepancy between the allowance as per the former and changed plan. it is however not clear in which 

cases and to which extent the employer has an obligation to pay a supplementary pension.

Currently, there is a dispute between aqualectra and apna concerning the interpretation of the regulation of “duurtetoeslag” (dt). apna 

namely invoices aqualectra amongst others for indexation (both for pension indexation and “wage scale” increases) whilst aqualectra 

disputes this. despite being in disagreement with apna, the Group created the provision for dt according to apna’s calculation method, 

with the exception of the “wage scale” indexation, as an estimation thereof is not readily available. 

the principal actuarial assumptions used in the calculations were as follows:

 

 2009 2008

discount rate at december 31 5.50% 6.00%

Rate of return on plan assets 6.10% 6.10%

inflation 3.00% 3.00%

Future pension increases 2.10% 2.10%

Future compensation increases 1.80% 1.65%

Mortality:

Male:  GBM 2000-2005; -1 (2008: GBM 2000-2005; -1)

Female:  GBv 2000-2005; -1 (2008:  GBv 2000-2005; -1)

age difference spouse:  male is 4 years older than female

Marital status:  100%
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the position of the provision supplementary pension apna (dt) is shown below: 

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Provision supplementary pension APNA (DT) recognized in the statement of financial position 

present value of unfunded obligations 18,518  12,757 

Fair value of plan assets 0  0 

unrecognised past service gain 0  0 

provision supplementary pension ApnA (Dt) premiums 18,518  12,757 

Movement in provision supplementary pension APNA (DT)

provision supplementary pension apna (dt) at the beginning of year 12,757  12,108 

expenses 819  793 

Contributions paid (552) (759)

actuarial losses recognized in the statement of total recognized gains and losses 5,494  615 

provision supplementary pension ApnA (Dt) at end of year 18,518  12,757 

Amounts recognized in the statement of comprehensive income

Current service costs 131  57 

interest costs 688  736 

expected return on plan assets 0  0 

additional charges 0  0 

past service costs 0  0 

expenses recognized in the statement of comprehensive income 819 793 

Present value of the unfunded obligations

present value of the unfunded obligations at the beginning of year 12,757  12,108 

interest costs 688  736 

Current service costs 131  57 

past service costs (vested benefits) 0 0

Benefits paid (552) (759)

actuarial loss on obligation 5,494  615 

present value of the unfunded obligations at end of year 18,518  12,757 

Fair value of the plan assets 

Fair value of the plan assets at the beginning of year 0  0

expected return on plan assets 0  0

actuarial (gain)/losses on plan assets 0  0

additional charge 0  0

Contributions by the employer (552)  (759)

Contributions by the participants 0  0

Benefits paid 552 759

fair value of the plan assets at end of year 0  0

 

Development of deficit in the plan 

present value unfunded obligations 18,518  12,757

Fair value of plan assets 0  0

Deficit in the plan 18,518  12,757

the expenses have been included in other personnel expenses in the statement of comprehensive income. 
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a sensitivity analysis on the present value of the unfunded obligation is presented below:

the following sensitivity analysis reflected below shows the effect on the unfunded obligations based on a 0.25% change in the discount 

rate or in the inflation rate. 

a negative or positive 0.25% change in the applied discount rate would result in deviations of respectively anG 544,000 and (anG 

519,000) in the unfunded obligations.

a negative or positive 0.25% change in the applied pension indexation would result in deviations of respectively (anG 508,000) and anG 

530,000 in the unfunded obligations.

supplementary pension ApnA (Dt) Basis  Deviation in  Deviation in 

(amounts in anG * 1,000)  discount rate inflation rate

discount rate  5.50% 5.25% 5.75% 5.50% 5.50%

pension indexation 2.10% 2.10% 2.10% 1.85% 2.35%

present value of the unfunded obligation 18,518  19,062  17,999  18,010  19,048 

Currently, aqualectra has a difference of opinion with apna as to the calculation of the supplementary pension premiums. the difference 

of opinion concerns the calculation-method used for pension increases, but also on the legality of the supplementary pension plan. apna 

is of the opinion that all pension increases can be fully charged to aqualectra as supplementary pension increases. aqualectra is of the 

opinion that there is no legal basis for this methodology and also disputes the legal basis for the validity of the supplementary pension plan. 

aqualectra and apna are in the process of resolving this issue; however as per the preparation and approval of these Consolidated Financial 

statements no resolution has been reached. it is expected that a resolution can only be reached through judicial proceedings. if the courts 

find in favor of aqualectra, the provision for supplementary pensions (dt) will be released for the full amount.

Provision early retirement benefit (VUT)

in the national ordinance of december 27, 1995, regulating the raising of the retirement age, it is stipulated that the civil servants have the 

option of filing a request with the Governor to retire from service at the age of 55. the resulting liability for the period between 55 and 60 

years will be borne by the legal entity that ultimately employed the persons concerned.

the actuarial calculation of the provision for early retirement benefit (the so called ‘vut’) of employees participating in the apna pension 

plan is based on the regulation and the assumptions of a participation probability which is based on experience.

according to the collective labor agreements of aqualectra, employees have the option of filing a request with the Board of Managing direc-

tors to retire from service at the age of 55, under certain conditions such as employment with the Group for at least 20 years. the Board of 

Managing directors decides whether the employee’s request will be honored. in such case, the resulting obligation will be accounted for as 

a liability in the Group’s statement of financial position. 

For those employees insured at apna the Board of Managing directors is obliged to honor such a request. a provision has been formed for 

both group of employees.
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 2009 2008

discount rate at december 31 5.50% 6.00%

Rate of return on plan assets 6.10% 6.10%

inflation 3.00% 3.00%

Future pension increases 2.10% 2.10%

Future compensation increases 1.80% 1.65%

Mortality:

Male: GBM 2000-2005; -1 (2008: GBM 2000-2005; -1)

Female:  GBv 2000-2005; -1 (2008:  GBv 2000-2005; -1)

age difference spouse:  male is 4 years older than female

Marital status:  100%

vut participation probability:  2.5% 

the position of the provision early retirement benefit (vut) is shown below:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Provision early retirement benefit APNA (VUT) recognized in the statement of financial position

present value of unfunded obligations 1,436  1,651 

Fair value of plan assets 0  0 

unrecognised past service gain 0  0 

provision early retirement benefit ApnA (vut) premiums 1,436  1,651 

Movement in provision early retirement benefit (VUT)

provision early retirement benefit apna (vut) at the beginning of year 1,651  2,309 

expenses 71  153 

Contributions paid (911) (806)

actuarial losses/ (gains) recognized in the statement of total recognized gains and losses 625  (5) 

provision early retirement benefit ApnA (vut) at end of year 1,436  1,651 

Amounts recognized in the statement of comprehensive income

Current service costs 5  23 

interest costs 66  130 

expected return on plan assets 0  0 

additional charges 0  0 

past service costs 0  0 

expenses recognized in the statement of comprehensive income 71  153

Present value of the unfunded obligations

present value of the unfunded obligations at the beginning of year 1,651  2,309 

interest costs 66  130 

Current service costs 5  23 

past service cost (vested benefits) 0  0

Benefits paid (911) (806)

actuarial loss/(gain) on obligation 625  (5) 

present value of the unfunded obligations at end of year 1,436  1,651 
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(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Fair value of the plan assets   

Fair value of the plan assets at the beginning of year 0  0

expected return on plan assets 0  0

actuarial losses/(gains) on plan assets 0  0

additional charge 0  0

Contributions by the employer (911)  (806)

Contributions by the participants 0  0

Benefits paid 911 806

fair value of the plan assets at end of year 0  0

   

Development of deficit in the plan   

present value unfunded obligations 1,436  1,651

Fair value of plan assets 0  0

Deficit in the plan 1,436  1,651

the expenses have been included in other personnel expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.

a sensitivity analysis on the present value of the unfunded obligation has been performed and showed that a 0.25% positive or negative 

modification in the discount rate or the inflation rate would result in immaterial movements.

Provision anniversary bonus

according to the collective labor agreement of aqualectra, employees are entitled to an anniversary bonus linked to the amount of years of 

service. 

a provision has been formed for this liability, using the following set of assumptions:

 2009 2008

discount rate at december 31 5.50% 6.00% 

Rate of return on plan assets 6.10% 6.10% 

salary increases (inflation & career) 2.10% 3.90%  

Future compensation increase 1.80% 1.65%

Mortality:

Male: GBM 1995-2000; -1 (2008 GBM 2000-2005; -1)    

Female: GBv 1995-2000; -1 (2008 GBv 2000-2005; -1)     

age difference spouse: male is 4 years older than female

Marital status: 100%
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the position of the provision is shown below:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Provision anniversary bonus recognised in the statement of financial position

present value of unfunded obligations 14,552  12,975 

Fair value of plan assets 0  0

unrecognised past service gain 0  0 

provision anniversary bonus premiums 14,552  12,975 

Movement in Provision anniversary bonus

provision anniversary bonus at the beginning of year 12,975  13,364 

expenses 1,395  1,387 

Contributions paid (1,465) (1,809)

actuarial gains (and losses) recognized in the statement of total recognized gains and losses 1,647  33 

provision anniversary bonus at the end of the year 14,552  12,975 

Amounts recognized in the statement of comprehensive income

Current service costs 684  601 

interest costs 711  786 

expected return on plan assets 0  0 

additional charges 0  0 

past service costs 0  0 

( income) / expenses recognized in the statement of comprehensive income 1,395  1,387

Present value of the unfunded obligations

present value of the unfunded obligations at the beginning of the year 12,975  13,364 

interest costs 711  786 

Current service costs 684  601 

past service cost (vested benefits) 0  0 

Benefits paid (1,465) (1,809)

actuarial (gain)/loss on obligation 1,647  33

present value of the unfunded obligations at the end of the year 14,552  12,975 

Fair value of the plan assets

Fair value of the plan assets at the beginning of the year 0  0 

expected return on plan assets 0  0 

actuarial (gain)/losses on plan assets 0  0 

additional charge 0  0 

Contributions by the employer (1,465)  (1,809) 

Contributions by the participants 0  0 

Benefits paid 1,465 1,809

fair value of the plan assets at the end of the year 0  0 

 

Development of deficit in the plan

present value unfunded obligations 14,552  12,975 

Fair value of plan assets 0  0 

Deficit in the plan 14,552 12,975 

the expenses have been included in other personnel expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.
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a sensitivity analysis on the present value of the unfunded obligation is presented below:

the following sensitivity analysis reflected below shows the effect on the unfunded obligations based on a 0.25% change in the discount 

rate or in the inflation rate. 

a negative or positive 0.25% change in the applied discount rate would result in deviations of respectively anG 227,000 and (anG 

222,000) in the unfunded obligations.

a negative or positive 0.25% change in the applied inflation rate would result in deviations of respectively (anG 231,000) and anG 

235,000 in the unfunded obligations.

provision anniversary bonus Basis  Deviation in  Deviation in 

(amounts in anG * 1,000)  discount rate inflation rate

discount rate  5.50% 5.25% 5.75% 5.50% 5.50%

inflation (inflation & career inflation) 3.90% 3.90% 3.90% 3.65% 4.15%

present value of the unfunded obligation  14,552  14,779  14,330  14,321  14,787 

Provision defined benefit plan

the Group operates a pension scheme with the pension fund vidanova. the scheme is funded through payments to vidanova and is 

determined by periodic actuarial calculations. the Group has a defined benefit plan, which amongst others means that the Group has a legal 

or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to 

employee service in the current and prior periods. typically, defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will 

receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation.

With the exception for aqualectra production, no liability is recognized in the statement of financial position in respect of the defined benefit 

pension plan as the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date is less than the fair value of the plan assets, together 

with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. For the other companies in the Group no net plan asset is 

recognized in the statement of financial position. 

the defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. the present value of 

the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of “high-quality” govern-

ment bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating to the 

terms of the related pension liability.

the principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

 2009 2008

discount rate at december 31 5.50% 6.00%

Rate of return on plan assets 6.10% 6.10%

inflation 3.00% 3.00%

Future pension increases 3.00% 2.10%

Future compensation increases 1.80% 1.65%

Mortality:

Male: GBM 2000-2005; -1 (2008: GBM 2000-2005; -1)

Female: GBv 2000-2005; -1 (2008: GBv 2000-2005; -1)

age difference spouse: male is 4 years older than female

Marital status: 100%
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Below the table included reflects the value of the defined benefit plan:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Net Pension Liability / (Asset), recognized/ NOT recognized in the statement of financial position 

present value of funded obligations 174,928  150,231

Fair value of plan assets 168,015  152,081

net pension liability / (Asset) 6,913  (1,850)

net pension liability recognized in the statement of financial position 7,203 372

net pension asset not recognized in the statement of financial position (290) (2,222)

net pension liability / (Asset), recognized/ not recognized 

in the statement of financial position 6,913 (1,850)

Movement in present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation (DBO)

defined Benefit obligation at the beginning of the year 150,231  172,404

expenses 18,139  19,071

Benefits paid (648) (913)

actuarial losses/ (gains) on obligation 7,206  (40,331)

Defined Benefit obligation at the end of the year 174,928  150,231

Amounts recognized in the statement of comprehensive income

Current service costs 9,378  7,835

interest costs 8,761  11,236

expected return on plan assets (9,800) (14,419)

additional charges 1,696  1,297

past service costs 0  0

(income) / expenses recognized in the statement of comprehensive income 10,035  5,949 

Actual return on plan assets *

expected return on plan assets 9,800  14,419

actuarial gains (and losses) on plan assets (2,175) (65,899)

Actual return on plan assets 7,625  (51,480)

Present value of the funded obligations

present value of the funded obligations at the beginning of year 150,231  172,404

interest costs 8,761  11,236

Current service costs 9,378  7,835

Benefits paid (648) (913)

actuarial loss/ (gain) on obligation 7,206  (40,331)

present value of the funded obligations at the end of the year 174,928  150,231

Fair value of the plan assets

Fair value of the plan assets at the beginning of the year (152,081)  (196,728)

expected return on plan assets (9,800)  (14,419)

actuarial gain / (losses) on plan assets 2,175 65,899

additional charge 1,696 1,297

Contributions by the employer (7,547)  (6,344)

Contributions by the participants (3,106)  (2,699)

Benefits paid 648 913

fair value of the plan assets at end of year (168,015)  (152,081)
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(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Development of deficit in the plan

present value unfunded obligations 174,928  150,231

Fair value of plan assets (168,015)  (152,081)

Deficit/ (surplus)  in the plan 6,913 (1,850)

* Includes releases in obligation because of new retirements, and returns on investments of 12.38% (2008:-12.05%).

the expenses are included in social securities in the statement of comprehensive income.

a sensitivity analysis on the present value of the unfunded obligation is presented below:

the following sensitivity analysis reflected below shows the effect on the unfunded obligations based on a 0.25% change in the discount 

rate or in the inflation rate. 

a negative or positive 0.25% change in the applied discount rate would result in deviations of respectively (anG 7,962,000) and anG 

8,479,000 in the unfunded obligations.

a combined positive or negative 0.25% change in the applied inflation- and pension indexation rates would result in deviations of respec-

tively anG 8,914,000 and (anG 8,388,000) in the unfunded obligations.

vida nova pension Basis  Deviation in  Deviation in

(amounts in anG * 1,000)  discount rate inflation rate

discount rate  5.50% 5.25% 5.75% 5.50% 5.50%

inflation 2.10% 2.10% 2.10% 1.85% 2.35%

pension indexation 1.65% 1.65% 1.65% 1.40% 1.90%

present value of the unfunded obligation 174,928  183,407  166,966  166,540  183,842 

Provision vacation leave

employees are entitled to a maximum number of vacation days per year. the Group forms a provision for vacation days not taken by the 

employees. 

the position of the provision vacation leave is shown below:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Provision leave pay   

Balance at beginning of year 2,453 2,763

Change in provision 134 (310)

   

Balance at end of year 2,587 2,453

  

Other Provisions 

other provision is comprised of the following categories:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

provision environmental clean up of RiF premises 825 825

provision decommissioning of Mundo nobo 13,519 12,600

total other provisions 14,344 13,425
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Provision environmental clean up Rif and Mundo Nobo premises

Half of the costs of the environmental clean up of the Rif premises have to be borne by aqualectra production. For this purpose a provision 

of anG 825,000 has been formed. Currently, there is no indication that this provision will lead to cash outflow on the short term.

the position of the other provisions is shown below:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Provision for environmental clean up of the Rif premises 

Balance at beginning of year 825 825

Change in provision 0 0

  825 825

Provision for decommissioning of the Mundo Nobo Plant

Balance at beginning of year 12,600 12,600

Change in provision 919 0

  13,519 12,600

Balance at end of year 14,344 13,425

Provision decommissioning of Mundo Nobo

the island Government has identified the south coast as an area for tourism development for the island, and in enhancing these efforts 

management has subsequently created a provision for the decommissioning of the Mundo nobo plant by 2014. services of an independent 

valuation expert were engaged in forming the estimation for the costs of decommissioning. the provision is estimated at anG 12,600,000.

the position of this provision and the movements in its corresponding asset is shown in the table below:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Provision decommissioning Mundo Nobo recognized in the statement of financial position

provision decommissioning at the beginning of year 12,600  12,600 

interest expenses on provision 693 0

indexation 2009 226  0 

Balance provision decommissioning at the end of the year 13,519   12,600 

    

Value of decommissioning Mundo Nobo asset

provision decommissioning 13,519  12,600 

Cumulative depreciation (10,940) (10,080)

Balance decommissioning asset at the end of the year 2,579  2,520 

    

Expenses related to decommissioning Mundo Nobo asset

depreciation 860  630 

decommissioning expenses 0  0 

expenses recognized relating to decommissioning Mundo nobo asset 860 630 

Cumulative depreciation decommissioning asset

Cumulative depreciation at the beginning of year 10,080  9,450 

depreciation during the year 860  630 

disposals 0  0 

cumulative depreciation at the end of the year 10,940  10,080 
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5.4.6. cuRRent liABilities

5.4.6.1. tRADe Accounts pAyABle

Below an overview of the trade accounts payable per Company as per december 31, 2009:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Aqualectra Production

Curoil 41,097 30,386 

pdvsa 7,891 21,167 

Consultants 1,529 296

local contractors 1,430 86

local suppliers 3,079 3,705

Foreign suppliers 3,441 1,789

insurance companies 0 292

other accounts payable 1,651 1,554

  60,118 59,275

Aqualectra Distribution

CuC 694 651 

pdvsa 1,536 13,198 

payments in transit 2,189 1,470

Consultants 954 1,147

local contractors 3,773 4,208

local suppliers 1,019 1,227

Foreign suppliers 4,595 945

insurance companies 768 675

Government institutions 105 202

other accounts payable  2,975 3,401 

  18,608 27,124

Aqualectra Multi Utiliy N.V.

other accounts payable 70 129 

  70 129

total accounts payable 78,796 86,528

  

5.4.6.2. coRpoRAte BonDs iuh

on december 28, 2009 aqualectra issued through the Central Bank netherlands antilles the first tranche 1a aqualectra Corporate Bonds 

with a nominal amount of anG 300,045,000. the actual realized net result on this issue amounts anG 238,894,162. Coupon bear on this 

bond is 6% and redemption will commence quarterly beginning on March 15, 2015.

the purpose of the issue of the first tranche was to refinance the existing loans and liabilities.

aqualectra will issue tranche 1b of aqualectra Corporate Bonds anG 415,000,000. this tranche will consist of 2 sub tranche, namely:

i anG 240,000,000 (re-issue original tranche 1a)

ii anG 175,000,000 (new issue)

Coupons bear 6% respectively 5%. Redemption of tranche i will commence quarterly beginning on august 17, 2015 and will mature in 25 

years. tranche ii will have only one payment and will be on May 17, 2025.

the purpose of the issue of these tranche is to re-issue existed/original tranche 1a and financing of investments conform the near term 

investment plan of aqualectra.
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5.4.6.3. BAnK oveRDRAft

aqualectra production has credit facilities with various banks amounting to a total of anG 6,250 million. on december 31, 2009 anG 

1,850,752 (2008: anG 5,398,000) of this facility was in use by the Group.

a first mortgage of usd 9 million on the dokweg power station, fiduciary ownership / lien on generators and negative pledge on stock has 

been assigned.

aqualectra distribution has credit facilities with various banks amounting to a total of  anG 6 million. on december 31, 2009 anG 630,935 

(2008: anG 2,054,000) of the facilities were overdrawn.

accounts receivable from aqualectra distribution have been assigned to the banks as collateral against these facilities.

Below an overview of this liability per Company as per december 31, 2009:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Aqualectra Production  

Bank overdraft 1,851 5,398 

Aqualectra Distribution  

Bank overdraft 631 2,054 

total Bank overdraft 2,482 7,452

  

the average annual interest rate during 2009 was 15.0% (2008: 10.1%).
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5.4.6.4. otheR liABilities

a summary of the main items payable as per december 31, 2009 is specified below:

  

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Aqualectra Production

employee benefit obligations 1,275 865 

social securities 1,640 2,627 

accrued interest 47 166 

Current maturity long term loans  2,537 30,037 

early retirement benefit obligations 818 1,109 

other accrued expenses 1,576 416 

other payables (foreign Countries) (843) 1,598 

Miscellaneous 1,042 689 

  8,092 37,507

Aqualectra Distribution

social securities 1,840 6,235 

Current maturity long term loans 10,767 9,496

accrued interest 13,009 12,237 

early retirement benefit obligations 0 0 

other accrued expenses 3,795 7,828

deposit received from apna 2,000 2,000 

Miscellaneous 578 74 

MJp projects 3,094 3,094 

  35,083 40,964

Integrated Utility Holding N.V.

social securities 8 458 

accrued interest 32 6,463 

other accrued expenses 9,411 7,813 

Current maturity long term loans 9,468 35,928 

profit tax 0 0

  18,919 50,662

Aqualectra Multi Utility N.V.

social securities 7 5 

other accrued expenses 78 78

  85 83

    

total other liabilities  62,179 129,216
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5.4.6.5. coMMitMents & contingencies

coMMitMents:

cAR leAse AgReeMents

aqualectra has lease agreements with several car dealers for the lease of Group cars. these lease agreements have different terms as per 

year-end december 2009. the total commitment as per december 31, 2009 based on the remaining terms of the lease agreements amounts 

to anG 5,652,762 (anG 4,280,913 in 2008). this amount can be specified as follows: 

Commitments up till one year:  anG 2,170,119 (anG 191,303 in 2008);

Commitments between one and five years:  anG 3,482,643 (anG 4,089,610 in 2008);

Commitments older than five years:  anG 0 (anG 0 in 2008).

contRActs with supplieRs AnD contRActoRs

as at reporting date aqualectra has contracts with several suppliers and/ or contractors for the delivery of goods and/ or services for several 

purposes. Below is an overview of the existing type of contracts as of reporting date:

contract party purpose of contract contract period commitments 

    in contract period

(amounts in anG * 1,000) start end 

Electricity and water technical activities 

local contractor purchase of water 1995 2012 23,385

Foreign supplier purchase of electricity  2008 2010 3,374

local supplier purchase of electricity 1999 2014 10,180

local contractor Hire of electrical maintenance and trouble shooting teams 2007 2010 1,400

local contractor Hire of electrical maintenance and trouble shooting teams 2007 2010 1,500

local contractor Hire of electrical maintenance teams 2007 2010 1,500

local contractor Hire of electrical maintenance teams and incident room-workers 2007 2010 1,200

local contractor Hire of communication means 2006 2010 285

local contractor Hire of electrical maintenance and trouble shooting teams 2007 2010 1,250

local supplier Maintenance of sCada 2008 2011 90

several contractors Maintenance of air conditioning 2009 2010 70

several contractors Maintenance of site 2009 2010 285

several contractors Hire water meter exchange teams 2009 2010 300

Investment projects 

local contractors Replacement 12 kv switch installation substation Koningsplein 2008 2010 2,978

Customer relations activities 

local supplier lease of couverter machines  2006 2011 200

local supplier delivery of electricity/water bills 2009 2010 2,700 *

local contractor electricity and water meter reading activities 2007 2010 1,200 *

local money transporter Money transportation activities 2009 2010 200 

local banks Bill payment service 2009 2010 2,311 *

local suppliers electricity prepayment though vending system  2009 2010 1,016 *

local contractor temporary cashiers 2008 2011 876 

ICT-products and services

local supplier technical support for the database management system 2009 2010 918 

Foreign supplier delivery, support and license of software products (yearly) 2009 2010 644 

local supplier program development 2009 2010 435 

local supplier system administration 2009 2010 240 
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contract party purpose of contract contract period commitments 

    in contract period

(amounts in anG * 1,000) start end 

local supplier database administrator 2009 2010 300 

local supplier internet 2009 2010 76 

local supplier Central printing/copying facilities 2009 2010 480 

local supplier telephone exchange/ switchboard 2009 2010 180 

Facilities 

local supplier lease of Ford F-550 2007 2012 1,158 

several local suppliers lease of vehicles 2006 2014 5,653 

local supplier Fleed auto tracking 2009 2010 84 

local contractor Car wash 2009 2010 42 

local contractor  office cleaning 2009 2010 401 

local supplier sanitair accessories 2009 2010 17 

local supplier Walk mat 2009 2010 27 

local contractor Garbage collection 2009 2010 17 

several local suppliers Maintenance of air conditioning 2009 2010 123 

Foreign supplier long range programming 2007 2012 225 

local contractor  Messenger service 2009 2010 200 

    

* Amounts mentioned are management estimates as the exact commitments in the contract period will depend on the realized number of 

transactions.

contingent liABilities:

l/c guARAntee

as at december 31, 2009 there was one current letter of credit (l/C’s) amounting to anG 1.82 million (also at the end of 2008). this l/C 

is related to the financing of the loan to CuC (see note 5.4.1.2). Further a letter of credit (l/C’s) amounting to anG 2.29 million in favor of 

aggreko international projects ltd. this l/C is related to the rent of generators (see note 5.5.2).

eARly RetiReMent Benefit (vut)

according to the collective labor agreements of aqualectra distribution and aqualectra production employees have the option of requesting 

the Board of Managing directors to retire from service at the age of 55, under certain conditions under which employment with aqualectra 

for at least 20 years. the Board of Managing directors decides whether the employee’s request will be honored. in such case, the resulting 

obligation will be accounted for as a liability in the Group’s statement of financial position. For employees insured at apna, the Board of 

Managing directors is obliged to honor such a request. For these employees insured at apna a provision has been formed.

suppleMentARy pension

as of January 1, 1998 the aov-franchise has been included in the pension plan of “algemeen pensioenfonds van de nederlandse antillen”. 

the pension allowance to be paid by apna under this changed plan is lower than the allowance that would have been paid according to 

the former plan. under certain conditions a supplementary pension has to be paid by the employer to the employees participating in this 

pension plan to compensate for the discrepancy between the allowance as per the former and changed plan. it is however not clear in which 

cases and to which extent the employer has an obligation to pay a supplementary pension. the provision for pension allowance as accounted 

for at reporting date is based on the former plan and is excluding a possible liability of the employer in relation to the compensation for the 

difference in allowance according to the former and changed plan.

Currently, aqualectra has a difference of opinion with apna as to the calculation of the supplementary pension premiums. the difference of 

opinion concerns the calculation-method used for pension increases, but also on the legality of the supplementary pension plan. apna is of 

the opinion that all pension increases can be fully charged to aqualectra as supplementary pension increases. aqualectra is of the opinion 
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that there is no legal basis for this methodology and also disputes the legal basis for the validity of the supplementary pension plan. aqualec-

tra and apna are in the process of resolving this issue; however as per issuance of these Consolidated Financial statements no resolution has 

been reached. it is expected that a resolution can only be reached through judicial proceedings. if the court decides in favor of aqualectra, the 

provision for supplementary pensions (dt) will be released for the full amount. Currently the provision for supplementary pension is provided 

in full, with the exception of the “wage scale” indexation.

Diesel poweR plAnt on the islA pReMises

on november 22, 2000 aqualectra, Refineria isla (Curaçao) s.a. (isla) and Refineria di Korsou n.v. (RdK) entered into an agreement (iuH 

agreement) pursuant to which isla agreed to improve and refurbish the Medium pressure power plant then operated by isla (the Mppp) so as 

to supply additional power to aqualectra distribution for distribution to the community of Curaçao. 

pursuant to a side letter of June 26, 2001, isla and aqualectra agreed to investigate the option of buying a new power unit instead of im-

proving and refurbishing the Mppp.

on august 8, 2002 aqualectra and isla agreed by the First amended and Restated iuH agreement, that instead of improving and refurbish-

ing the Mppp, an epC contractor chosen by aqualectra shall construct a new diesel power plant on the premises adjacent to the new 66 kv 

substation of aqualectra located within the Refinery. Based on this amended iuH agreement isla has committed to pay all amounts owed 

to the epC contractor under the epC contract up to usd 23,000,000 as reflected therein. this construction of the diesel power plant and 

the payment therefore has been set forth in an engineering, procurement and Construction Contract also dated on august 8, 2002 and 

duly signed by isla, aqualectra, aqualectra production and the epC-contractor being ManBWsC. this plant was commissioned in the third 

quarter of 2003. 

the initial annual aggregate iuH payment is equal to usd 12,000,000 and is paid in monthly installments. the iuH payment covers in ad-

dition to the construction costs of the diesel plant also a fuel and extension component (as stated in the contract). the annual iuH payments 

have already commenced and will continue pursuant to the contract until december 2019.

cuc-electRicity puRchAse

CuC and aqualectra distribution entered into a power purchase agreement on april 28, 1999, such that CuC will make available to aqua-

lectra distribution, as of the Commercial delivery date of the Boo-plant, 22 MW of electricity measured instantaneously, or less if required 

by aqualectra distribution. this electricity shall be provided to aqualectra distribution at no charge other than applicable ‘Fuel payments’.

according to above-mentioned ppa, CuC can also make electricity available to aqualectra distribution in excess of the mentioned 22 MW. 

amounts of electricity greater than 22MW (measured instantaneously) and up to and including 25 MW (measured instantaneously) have 

been referred as ‘level 1 excess’. 

amounts of electricity greater than 25 MW (measured instantaneously) have been referred to as ‘level 2 excess’. 

in addition to the applicable ‘Fuel payments’, the price of each KWH of excess electricity shall be usd 0.02 (sept. 30, 1997). such price 

shall be subject to upward adjustments as of January 1st of each year, commencing January 1, 1998, by increase (if any) in the indexes as 

stipulated in the ppa. 

speciAl iuh puRchAse Rights

on december 31, 2015 iuH will, without any further action, acquire all the Class B common stock and any other equity interest (other than 

Class a common stock and Class C special non-voting shares) of Curaçao utility Company Holdings n.v.  in consideration thereof iuH has 

to pay to Curaçao energy Company ltd. an amount of usd 400,000 on a yearly basis until december 31, 2015. these payments, for which 

accruals have been made in the Financial statements, will be settled with future dividend payments. a formal commencement date for the 

payments has yet to be agreed upon.

clAiM By A potentiAl Business pARtneR

a potential business partner filed a claim against aqualectra Multi utility n.v. (aMu) and integrated utility Holding n.v. (iuH) for presumed 

missed results regarding the Bottling Company n.v. the potential business partner claims that aqualectra ceased the negotiations with 

said company and is of the opinion that this is against the agreement both companies had. aqualectra denies the charges. the total claim 
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amounts to anG 55.5 million, plus statutory interest as of March 28, 2005. in May 2009 the court declared aMu liable for damages to the 

potential business partner and ordered aMu the pay the potential business partner for the agreed damage compensation of anG 50,000 

increased with legal interest as of March 2005 and the legal costs of anG 15,910 of the potential business partner. in June 2009 the poten-

tial business partner appealed to the higher court. a final verdict is expected in the third quarter of the year 2010.

cuRAçAo utilities coMpAny n.v. (cuc)

as per december 31, 2009 the following contingent liability related to CuC can be identified:

DisputeD invoices of pDvsA/ RefineRiA islA

pdvsa/Refineria isla has invoiced CuC for fuel used during periods when CuC failed to supply utilities and suffered liquidated damages. 

the usa limits CuC’s exposure to those damages while the Fsa ensures alternate fuels available at no costs from pdvsa. the net disputed 

amount related to these invoices is usd 2.2 million. CuC will seek arbitration if necessary.

since the outcome of the above-mentioned contingency is currently not yet known, management cannot properly estimate the outstanding 

amount. therefore, no provision has been made for this item in the financial statements.

contingent Assets:

RegulAtoRy Account 

the basic tariff for water and electricity is fixed and is meant to cover the operational costs (excluding fuel costs), such as cost of personnel, 

depreciation, costs of financing, maintenance and the costs related to the provision for bad debts and the return on equity agreed upon with 

the government of the island territory of Curaçao.

the fuel component as reflected in the fuel clause is variable and is meant to cover costs of fuel and other direct costs. the fuel component 

is subject to changes dependent on the developments of the oil prices and the other direct costs. up until June 2005 adjustments were 

calculated on a quarterly basis.

the island Government has allowed aqualectra to allocate the unrecovered amounts of the fuel and other direct costs in a so called Regu-

latory account. in the table underneath is a breakdown of the original amount of the under coverage, the recovered amount through the 

surcharge in the tariffs and the compensated amount by the energy Fund. in the table below the under coverage of the year 2009 has been 

processed anticipating that the island Government will approve the allocation of the remainder under coverage of the years 2006 throughout 

2009 to the Regulatory account.

(amounts in anG * million)  

years original amount Recovered compensated Balance to be
  through tariffs by energy fund compensated

2003-2004 41 (41) 0 0

2005 18 (1) (17) 0

2006 26 (17) (6) 3

2007 13 0 (2) 11

2008 74 0 0 74

2009 7 0 0 7

total 179 (59) (25) 95

the above mentioned balance of approximately anG 95 million does not include the coverage results on the fixed tariffs for the year 2005 

onwards, since aqualectra and the department of economic affairs have not reached an agreement on the division of the coverage results 

between aqualectra and the Consumers.
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the appropriation to the Regulatory account is to settle the deficit against future utility tariffs. the island Government agreed in 2005 to 

include a surcharge in the tariffs to gradually settle above mentioned amounts of under coverage on the fuel and other direct costs. 

in a resolution dated 17 november 2008, the island Council determined that, as from that date,  aqualectra can recover the under coverage 

in the Regulatory account through its tariffs, up to an annual maximum of anG 23 million.

pension pReMiuM Asset

in the pension agreement between the aqualectra companies (production, distribution and Holding) and vidanova (formerly stichting 

pensioenfonds utiliteitsbedrijven (spu)) in which part of the employees of the aqualectra companies participate it is stipulated that a yearly 

premium has to be paid (fixed percentage of the basis for pension) which is used to cover the yearly expenses related to the plan.

a surplus, the positive difference between the contributions and the yearly expenses, will be first used to cover eventual shortfalls in the future 

resulting from back service. no specific agreement has been made regarding possible reduction of premium as result of a surplus at year-end. 

in any other case the surplus will only be realized when stepping out of the pension fund. any shortfall, being the negative difference between 

the contributions and the yearly expenses, will be charged immediately to the respective participating company. 

the calculation of the presented figures for employee benefits has been based on actuarial calculations in accordance with iFRs. since there is 

no asset ceiling study available, in accordance with iFRiC 14, which can determine whether and to what amount there are possible economic 

benefits resulting from the funded assets, no assets have been recognized in the statement of financial position.

at december 31, 2009, based on actuarial calculations, the fair value of the plan assets lower the present value of the funded obligations 

by anG (6,913,000) (2008: fair value exceeds anG 1,850,000).

stA. BARBARA

aqualectra and santa Barbara utilities n.v. (‘santa Barbara’) entered into an agreement for the production and supply of water and electric-

ity on March 10, 2004. according to this agreement, aqualectra shall at its own expense construct, operate and maintain a Reverse osmosis 

(Ro) facility. For the construction of the Ro facility santa Barbara has transferred land to aqualectra for no consideration other than entering 

into the said agreement. santa Barbara also grants aqualectra a right of use on other land for a period of 99 years commencing at closing 

of the agreement for no consideration. 

as part of the agreement aqualectra shall apply a special tariff structure for water and electricity for all the facilities of santa Barbara. 

eneRgy funD 2005/2006

the energy Fund 2005/2006 was approved on december 6, 2005 and was established as a means to stabilize the water and electricity 

tariffs and therefore will compensate aqualectra for insufficient coverage of tariffs incurred in 2005 and 2006 due to oil price changes and 

changes in the other direct costs. 

due to the developments in the fuel prices during the period covered by the energy Fund 2005/2006, the amount originally designated 

to the energy Fund 2005/2006 was not sufficient to compensate abovementioned under coverage for the period april through december 

2006. 

in the year 2006 aqualectra received anG 22.65 million from the energy Fund which covers the periods January through september 2005 

(anG 7.79 million), october through december 2005 (anG 8.95 million) and January through March 2006 (anG 5.91 million). in the year 

2007 aqualectra received an amount of anG 2.2 million from the remainder of the energy Fund to minimize the tariff increase in 2007.

the remaining, still to be compensated, under coverage for the above mentioned period amounts to anG 21.2 million, which regards the 

period January through september 2005 (anG 1.6 million) and the period april through december 2006 (anG 19.6 million). 

this amount is recorded as a receivable. However, since the funds in the energy Fund are depleted and the island Government does not have 

the necessary funds to compensate aqualectra for the under coverage, the total outstanding amount has been provided for. in anticipation of 

the written approval of the island Government this amount has been allocated to the Regulatory account to be compensated through future 

usage of electricity and water. of the above mentioned receivable of anG 21.2 million, an amount of anG 18.3 million has been recovered 

through the tariffs in the years 2007 and 2008.
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as of december 31, 2009 the remainder uncompensated under coverage over the above mentioned period amounts to anG 2.9 million. 

due to the compensation of anG 18.3 million through the tariffs, there was also a release of the provision for doubtful accounts for the 

same amount.

iFRs does not allow recognition of the amounts in the Regulatory account. therefore, the amount in the Regulatory account is treated as a 

contingent asset.
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5.5.  eXplanatoRy notes to tHe stateMent  
oF CoMpReHensive inCoMe

5.5.1. opeRAting Revenue

tariffs to consumers of electricity and water consist of two components. the first component covers the production-/ distribution costs and 

the profit margin. the second component (fuel component) of the used tariff covers the cost of fuel and other direct costs. the fuel component 

can change as a result of fluctuations in the price of Curoil‘s and pdvsa/ Refineria isla‘s fuel products. the Group keeps track of the fluctua-

tions and when necessary the fuel component is adjusted in the tariffs as to make the sales work budget neutral to the actual fuel costs. see 

also note 5.4.6.5 for additional information. 

unaccounted usage for water distribution decreased during 2009 by 1.59% to 25.88% compared to 2008 (27.47%). unaccounted usage 

for electricity distribution during 2009 decreased with 0.40% to 12.91% compared to 2008 (13.31%). in order to align all the necessary 

activities to reduce the unaccounted usage, a multi disciplinary taskforce group was setup in 2004, headed by a steering committee consist-

ing of the Chief executive officer (Ceo), Managing director distribution and the Chief Financial officer. Furthermore, the taskforce group 

consists of different project coordinators/groups that are responsible for the identified improvement activities and report periodically to the 

steering committee. the steering committee actually is being staffed by only the Ceo and the Managing director distribution. 

5.5.2.  DiRect cost pRoDuction 

direct cost production is specified below:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Fuel usage  (171,547) (231,170)

Chemicals (5,642) (3,900)

lubrication (2,375) (2,182)

purchase of water & electricity (14,818) (12,075)

iuH dpp element (6,859) (6,738)

iuH Fuel element (4,031) (4,033)

iuH extension element (9,423) (9,428)

temporary diesel powerplant (8,786) (4,922)

 

total direct cost production  (223,481) (274,448)

direct cost of production includes an amount of anG 20,313,000 (anG 20,199,000 in 2008) being the dpp, fuel and extension compo-

nent of the iuH agreement between aqualectra, Refineria isla and Refineria di Korsou n.v. according to this agreement a total fee of usd 

12,000,000 has to be paid on a yearly basis until the year 2019. the amount mentioned increases yearly with the consumer index. this 

agreement covers the construction costs of a diesel power plant and consists of a fuel and extension component. 

We refer also to 5.4.6.5.
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operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

operating lease

(amounts in anG * 1,000)   At December 31, 2009   At December 31, 2008

 <1 year ≥1 and >5 years <1 year ≥1 and >5 years
  ≤5 years   ≤5 years

Wind park playa Canoa 2,378 7,802 0 2,378  9,065 1,115

desalination plant aquadesign 7,788 15,597 0  7,788  23,385  0 

temporary diesel power plant

Mundo nobo aggreko 3,374 0  0  3,374  3,374  0 

digital Copiers, printers and scanners 173 169  0  205  319  0 

Cars 2,170 3,482 0  191 4,090 0 

 15,883 27,050 0 13,936 40,233 1,115

leAse contRAct foR the winD pARK plAyA cAnoA

the Group has a lease contract for the wind park playa Canoa which will end in 2014. it was determined that substantially all the risks are 

with the lessor. as such, the Group determined that the leases are operating leases.

wAteR puRchAse AgReeMent ReveRse osMosis wAteR plAnt MunDu noBo

as of september 15, 1995 Kae n.v. (aqualectra production) has a 6 year agreement with aqua design n.v. (adnv) (currently aeonics) for 

the purchase of approx. 3,000 m3 water/ day produced by the reverse osmosis water plant located at Mundo nobo. 

as per March 31, 1999 this agreement has been amended, based on the fact that adnv has increased the capacity of the water plant; the 

quantity of water to be produced and to be delivered to Kae increased from 3,000 m3/ pay to 10,200 m3/ pay. 

this agreement can be categorized as an operating lease and not finance lease, as arrangements in this agreement imply that a substantial 

part of the risks and rewards remain with the lessor of the reverse osmosis water plant, being aeonics (the new owner of the water plant). 

therefore aqualectra production does not recognize the leased asset in its statement of Financial position.  

teMpoRARy poweR geneRAtion seRvices with AggReKo inteRnAtionAl pRoJects ltD

on February 2, 2008 aqualectra production entered into a contract for temporary power generation services with aggreko international 

projects ltd for generation of 10MW of continuous power at 12 kv – 50 Hz, 0.8 power factor to meet the emergency power requirements of 

its production Facility at Curacao, netherland antilles. the validity of the contract was for a period of 39 weeks and this has been extended 

in december 2008 and is now valid up to and till december 31, 2010. 



98

IN
TE

G
RA

TE
D

 U
TI

LI
TY

 H
O

LD
IN

G
 N

.V
. -

 A
q

U
A

LE
c

TR
A

 |
 C

o
n

so
li

d
a

te
d

 a
n

n
u

a
l 

Re
po

Rt
 2

00
9

5.5.3. opeRAting expenses

personnel costs and general expenses are specified below:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Personnel costs

salaries 54,245 53,162

overtime 6,369 4,553 

social securities 11,686 11,988 

actuarial based calculation future medical 

costs retired employees 9,396 10,234 

other personnel expenses 4,993 4,656 

total personnel costs 86,689 84,593 

General expenses  

Housing and car fleet 6,082 5,806 

office expenses 3,035 3,172

insurance and security 7,677 7,891 

Consultancy 8,195 7,448 

sundry expense production (3,441) 404 

Communications and public relation 4,185 4,563 

other expenses 858 7,328 

total general expenses 26,591  36,612 

   

eMployee Benefits

the Group’s contributions to the defined benefit plans are charged to the statement of comprehensive income (personnel expenses) in the 

period to which the contributions relate. the total expense resulting from contributions, current service costs, interest cost and expected return 

on plan assets for the year 2009 (and 2008) were:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

aqualectra production  5,505 3,576 

aqualectra distribution 4,675 4,202

integrated utility Holding n.v. 430 1,749

the calculation of the presented figures for employee benefits are based on actuarial calculations in accordance with iFRs. since the assets 

ceiling is set at zero, no assets have been recognized in the statement of financial position. the actuarially calculated expenses of the plan 

are charged to the statement of comprehensive income.

the development in the labor force during 2009 was as follows:

labor force Aqualectra Aqualectra  Aqualectra integrated total

 production Distribution Bottling utility

    holding n.v.

31/12/2008 286 391 2 5 684

31/12/2009 296 388 2 8 694

increase/Decrease 10 -3 0 3 10
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5.5.4. inteRest expense

a breakdown of the interest expense is as follows:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) Dec 31, 2009 Dec 31, 2008

Aqualectra Production

interest expense  3,224 2,950 

interest revenues  (25) (38)

Aqualectra Distribution  

interest expense  2,002 1,813 

interest revenues  (7) (14)

Aqualectra Utility Holding N.V.  

interest expense 6,525 9,083 

interest revenues (27) (670)

   

total interest expense 11,692 13,124

5.5.5. pRofit tAx expenses / (incoMe)

the Group is subject to netherlands antilles profit tax. as per January 1, 2008, integrated utility Holding nv forms a fiscal unity with its 

subsidiaries for profit tax purposes. 

in accordance with the standard conditions a company and its subsidiaries that form part of the fiscal unity are jointly and severally liable 

for taxation payable by the fiscal unity.

profit tax recognized in the statement of comprehensive income can be specified as follows:

(amounts in anG * 1,000)  Dec 31, 2009  Dec 31, 2008

profit for the period  24,423  (17,019)

share of loss of equity accounted investees  11,251  2,092

profit tax 30.17% 15,416 37.69% (9,028)

profit before tax  51,090  (23,955) 

    

profit tax using the domestic rate 34.50% 17,626 34.50% (8,264)

permanent tax difference -3.82% (1,952) 5.81% (1,392)

temporary tax difference 2.91% 1,487 -12.57% 3,010

other -3.42% (1,745) 9.95% (2,382)

    

total profit tax expense/(income) 30.17% 15,416 37.69% (9,028)
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5.5.6. RelAteD pARties

iDentity of RelAteD pARties

the Group has a related party relationship with associates (see note 5.4.1.2) and with directors and executive officers.  

tRAnsActions with Key MAnAgeMent peRsonnel

Key management is considered those persons who have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of 

the Group directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity. the key management of aqualectra are 

provided salary, benefits and incentives based on both aqualectra’s and individual performance. the executive management also participates 

in a pension plan. aqualectra does not have a share-based compensation plan. 

the remuneration of direct management of aqualectra and its supervisory Board is included in the statement of comprehensive income as 

personnel costs.

Key management, including, supervisory Board compensation can be categorized as follows:

(amounts in anG * 1,000) 2009 2008

short-term employee benefits  4,201 3,125

post-employment benefits employees 487 306

total key management officers’ compensation 4,688 3,431

as per december 31, 2009, the outstanding balance of short term and long term receivables from key management officers of aqualectra 

amounts to anG 0 (2008: anG 9,500).

as per december 31, 2009 key management consisted of 1 acting president director, 3 executive directors and 6 tier 1 Managers. as per 

december 31, 2008 the numbers of said officers were the same.

as per december 31, 2009 the supervisory Board consisted of 7 directors (2008: 7).

AssociAte AnD otheR RelAteD pARty tRAnsActions:

Curaçao utility Company Holdings n.v. (‘CuCH’) is an associate, since aqualectra holds 49% of the common shares of CuCH;• 

vidanova is ‘inter alia’ the provider of the pension plan for the aqualectra personnel. Based on the existing laws and regulation, equal • 

representation (employees and sponsors) in the Board of Managing directors as well in the Board of supervisory directors of the pen-

sion fund is applicable. aqualectra is represented in the Board of Managing directors by one member and in the Board of supervisory 

directors by 3 members.

in 2009 aqualectra paid anG 67,636 (2008: anG 65,016) as compensation for the managing director of CuC.

in 2009 aqualectra purchased electricity from CuC Holdings for a total amount of anG 8,804,404 (2008: anG 13,677,577), while at 

december 31, 2009 aqualectra presents a financial asset concerning CuCH of anG 1.82 million due to granting security deposits by means 

of a granted letter of Credit for financing sponsor obligations for CuC Holdings (2008: anG 2.98 million).

in 2009 aqualectra paid a total amount of anG 10,652,000 (2008: anG 8,106,000 and an accrual for purchase of pension rights of anG 

937,000) to vidanova.  the accrual of anG 937,000 as per december 31, 2008 for the purchase of pension rights has not been settled 

during 2009. the outstanding balance of a long term loan from vidanova amounts to anG 1,669,000 at december 31, 2009 (2008: anG 

2,108,000).
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5.5.7. suBsequent events

cuRAçAo utilities coMpAny n.v. (cuc)

in March 2010, the plant experienced technical diffictulties, which led to a total shut down of the plant. Consequently, this shutdown led 

to a stop of the operations of the isla Refinery. after pressure from the workers of the isla Refinery, the government of the island territory of 

Curacao has decided to invest about usd7 million into the Company, through Refineria di Korsow (RdK) for the needed restart of the assets 

at the plant. this investment, which is effectuated through an increase in the value of the preferred equity, was approved by the shareholders 

of RdK on May 26,  2010. additionally, management implemented a cost-savingsplan to improve on the Company’s cash flow. Based on the 

above, management is confident that these measures will enable the Company to continue as a going concern. 



102

IN
TE

G
RA

TE
D

 U
TI

LI
TY

 H
O

LD
IN

G
 N

.V
. -

 A
q

U
A

LE
c

TR
A

 |
 C

o
n

so
li

d
a

te
d

 a
n

n
u

a
l 

Re
po

Rt
 2

00
9

6. independent auditoRs’ RepoRt

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of integrated utility Holding n.v. (the “Company”), which comprise 

the consolidated statement of financial position as at december 31, 2009, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, 

changes in shareholder’s equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and the general accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with international Financial 

Reporting standards. this responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and 

fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error, selecting and applying 

appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility

our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 

international standards on auditing. those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. the 

procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. in making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. an audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 

the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

in our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material aspects, the consolidated financial position of the 

Company as at december 31, 2009, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with international 

Financial Reporting standards.

Curaçao, netherlands antilles,

september 2, 2010

KpMG aCCountants B.v.

lindomar l.p. scoop Ra
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